



STAR+PLUS Nursing Facility Member

Handbook

Bexar, El Paso, Harris, Jefferson, Lubbock, Medicaid Rural West, Tarrant, and Travis Service Areas July 2022

800-600-4441 (TTY 711) myamerigroup.com/TX













Amerigroup STAR+PLUS Nursing Facility Member Handbook

Bexar, El Paso, Harris, Jefferson, Lubbock, Medicaid Rural West, Tarrant, and Travis Service Areas

> 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) myamerigroup.com/TX

> > July 2022

1031658TXMENAGP 01/22

Important Plan Information



Member Handbook Update

Please read this with care and keep it with your member handbook.

Important changes to your extra benefits start September 1, 2022.

Below is the updated chart for the **What extra benefits do I get as a member of Amerigroup?** section of your handbook:

Value-added benefit	How to get it
 Healthy Rewards gift card for completing these healthy activities (for members who do not have Medicare): \$20 every 6 months for a member with diabetes who has a blood sugar test (HbA1c) \$20 every 6 months for a member with diabetes who has a blood sugar test (HbA1c) with a result less than 8 	 To receive a reward: Join the Healthy Rewards program within 30 days after you complete an eligible healthy activity while you are an Amerigroup member. Your provider will report healthy activities by submitting a claim within 95 days of your visit. If you have not received a reward, you must request it within 6 months after the date of your activity. To join the Healthy Rewards program or find information about the program and rewards: Log in to your account at myamerigroup.com/TX to access the Benefit Reward Hub from the Benefits page or Call the Healthy Rewards Customer Service Line at 888-990-8681 (TTY 711) Monday through Friday from 8 a.m. to 7 p.m. Central time
Enhanced vision benefits — plastic/polycarbonate lenses — once every 36 months (for members who don't have Medicare)	Call 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) or go to myamerigroup.com/TX for more information.

Value-added benefit	How to get it
 Free cellphone/smartphone through the Lifeline program with monthly minutes, data, and texts. If you qualify, you also get: Unlimited calls to Member Services, member advocates, and service coordinators for calls placed through Member Services. 200 bonus minutes when you join. 100 bonus minutes for your birthday. 	 Call 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) or go to myamerigroup.com/TX for more information. Birthday bonus minutes start the month after you join. To see if you qualify for the federal Lifeline Assistance program, go to safelinkwireless.com and fill out the application.
First-aid kit and a personal disaster plan (1 kit per member per lifetime)	Log in to your account at myamerigroup.com/TX to access the Benefit Reward Hub from the Benefits page or call 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) or your service coordinator.
Personal exercise kit — 1 kit per year (for members who do not have Medicare)	Log in to your account at myamerigroup.com/TX to access the Benefit Reward Hub from the Benefits page or call 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) or your service coordinator.
Dental hygiene kit — 1 kit per year (for members who do not have Medicare)	Log in to your account at myamerigroup.com/TX to access the Benefit Reward Hub from the Benefits page or call 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) or your service coordinator.
Personal remembrance photo album — 1 album per lifetime	Call 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) or your service coordinator.
Personalized labels to identify personal belongings — 1 set every 2 years	Call 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) or your service coordinator.
Help with weight management through a program with 24/7 online access to resources, tools, and activities on healthy snacking, portion management, weight goals, extra calories, and exercise tips	Access the CommonGround Library platform by logging into your secure account at myamerigroup.com/TX .
Pregnancy and early parenting program online 24/7 through web or mobile app to support expecting and new parents	Access the CommonGround Library platform by logging into your secure account at myamerigroup.com/TX .

Value-added benefit	How to get it
Kick the Habit: A tobacco cessation program with online activities, education materials, and products. This program can help members as they try to quit using tobacco or chew, smoking cigarettes, or vaping.	Access the program at go.theexprogram.com/amerigrouptx .
Social services resource directory online to help locate community supports such as food and nutrition, housing, education, and employment services	To find services near you, visit myamerigroup.com/TX and select Community Support under Get Help.

Do you have questions?

Call Member Services toll-free at **800-600-4441 (TTY 711)**, Monday through Friday from 7 a.m. to 6 p.m. Central time.

Amerigroup members in the Medicaid Rural Service Area and the STAR Kids program are served by Amerigroup Insurance Company; all other Amerigroup members in Texas are served by Amerigroup Texas, Inc.



Welcome to Amerigroup! We're glad you're our member!

Here are some things you should do to get started:

Look for your Amerigroup ID card in the mail. Keep the card with you. You'll use it to get all your services, like doctor visits, prescriptions, and more. If you have Medicare or private insurance, you'll also have another health plan card to show when you visit a provider.

If you don't receive your member ID card by your first day as a new member, call us at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) Monday through Friday from 7 a.m. to 6 p.m. Central time.

Stay connected with your health. Download the free Amerigroup mobile app today to access your ID card, search for a doctor, and more.

Register for our secure website. Visit myamerigroup.com/TX and register for secure access. When you create an account, you'll get helpful tools at your fingertip:

- Choose or change your primary care provider
- Send us a secure message
- Request a callback
- Update your address or phone number
- And more!

Want to change your primary care provider? Choose from a large group of doctors who work with our plan. To change your primary care provider online:

- Go to myamerigroup.com/TX.
- Use our **Find a Doctor** tool to search for plan providers who are close to home, speak your language, and can meet your needs.
- Log in to your account.
- Click on **My Account**.
- Click on Change Your Primary Care Provider.

You can also find doctors in our plan using the provider directory on the *Find a Doctor* page at myamerigroup.com/TX. To get a no-cost paper copy of the provider directory or for help changing your primary care provider, call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711). If you have both Medicare and Medicaid, contact your Medicare plan to change your primary care provider.

You should have regular checkups with your doctor at any age. Learn more about checkups and wellness visits in the When should adults get checkups? section of this member handbook.

We're here for you when you need us. If you have questions about your benefits or health care, you can call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) Monday through Friday from 7 a.m. to 6 p.m. You can call the same number for 24-hour Nurse HelpLine to talk to a nurse anytime, day or night.

AMERIGROUP STAR+PLUS PROGRAM FOR NURSING FACILITY RESIDENTS MEMBER HANDBOOK

2505 N. Highway 360 Suite 300 Grand Prairie, TX 75050

800-600-4441 (TTY 711) myamerigroup.com/TX

Welcome to Amerigroup!

This member handbook will tell you how we can help you get the care you need.

Table of Contents

INFORMATION ABOUT YOUR NEW HEALTH PLAN	8
IMPORTANT PHONE NUMBERS	8
Amerigroup toll-free Member Services line	
Amerigroup 24-hour Nurse HelpLine	
Behavioral Health and Substance Use Disorder Services line	
Other important phone numbers	9
YOUR AMERIGROUP ID CARD	
What does my Amerigroup ID card look like? How do I use it?	
How do I replace my Amerigroup ID card if it is lost or stolen?	
Your Texas Benefits (YTB) Medicaid Card	
What if I need a temporary ID verification form?	12
PRIMARY CARE PROVIDERS	12
What is a primary care provider?	
Will I be assigned a primary care provider if I have Medicare?	
How do I see my primary care provider if he/she does not visit my nursing home?	
How can I change my primary care provider?	
How do I get medical care after my primary care provider's office is closed?	
What is the Medicaid Lock-in program?	
PHYSICIAN INCENTIVE PLANS	14
CHANGING HEALTH PLANS	14
What if I want to change health plans?	
Who do I call?	

How many times can I change health plans?	
When will my health plan change become effective?	.15
Can Amerigroup ask that I get dropped from their health plan for noncompliance?	.15
MY BENEFITS	15
What are my health-care benefits?	.15
How do I get these services?	. 15
What if Amerigroup doesn't have a provider for one of my covered benefits?	.15
How much do I have to pay for my health care?	.15
What are long-term services and supports?	.16
What are my nursing facility long-term services and supports benefits?	.16
How would my benefits change if I moved into the community?	
What are my acute care benefits?	. 17
How do I get these services? What number do I call to find out about these services?	.18
Are there any limits to any covered services?	
What is preapproval?	.18
What services are not covered by Amerigroup?	.19
What is service coordination?	
How can I talk with a service coordinator?	.20
What will a service coordinator do for me?	.20
How do I know who my service coordinator is?	.20
What are my prescription drug benefits?	
What extra benefits do I get as a member of Amerigroup?	
How do I get these extra benefits?	
What health education classes does Amerigroup offer or help you find?	.23
What is Complex Case Management? How do I get these services?	
What is a Member with Special Health Care Needs?	
What services can I still get through regular Medicaid, but are not covered by Amerigroup?.	.24
MY HEALTH CARE AND OTHER SERVICES	
What does medically necessary mean?	
How is new technology evaluated?	.25
What is routine medical care?	
How soon can I expect to be seen?	
Are nonemergency dental services covered?	
What is emergency medical care?	
How soon can I expect to be seen?	
Do I need a prior authorization?	
Are emergency dental services covered?	
How soon can I see my doctor?	
What is post-stabilization?	
What if I get sick when I am out of the facility and traveling out of town?	
What if I am out of the state?	
What if I am out of the country?	
What if I need to see a special doctor (specialist)?	.28

What is a referral? What services do not need a referral?	28
How soon can I expect to be seen by a specialist?	29
How can I ask for a second opinion?	
How do I get help if I have behavioral (mental) health, alcohol, or drug problems?	29
Do I need a referral for this?	
What are Mental Health Rehabilitative Services and Mental Health Targeted Case	
Management?	29
How do I get Mental Health Rehabilitation Services or Mental Health Targeted Care	
Management?	29
How do I get my medications?	30
What if I also have Medicare?	30
How do I find a network drugstore?	30
What if I go to a drugstore not in the network?	
What do I bring with me to the drugstore?	
What if I need my medications delivered to me?	30
Who do I call if I have problems getting my medications?	30
What if I can't get the medication my doctor ordered approved?	
What if I lose my medication(s)?	30
How do I find out what drugs are covered?	30
Will I have a copay?	31
How do I get my medicine if I am traveling?	31
What if I paid out of pocket for a medicine and want to be reimbursed?	
How do I get family planning services?	
Do I need a referral for this?	31
Where do I find a family planning services provider?	31
When should adults get checkups?	
Amerigroup transportation services for nursing facility residents	32
What transportation services are offered?	
How do I get this service?	32
Who do I call for a ride to a medical appointment?	
How do I get eye care services?	
Can someone interpret for me when I talk to my doctor? Who do I call for an interpreter?	33
How far in advance do I need to call?	
How can I get a face-to-face interpreter in the provider's office?	33
What if I need OB/GYN care?	
How do I choose an OB/GYN?	33
If I do not choose an OB/GYN, do I have direct access?	
Will I need a referral?	
How soon can I be seen after contacting my OB/GYN for an appointment?	
Can I stay with my OB/GYN if he or she is not with Amerigroup?	
What if I am pregnant? Who do I need to call?	
How do I report suspected abuse, neglect, or exploitation?	
What are abuse, neglect, and exploitation?	
Reporting abuse, neglect, and exploitation	

What if I am too sick to make a decision about my medical care?	
What are advance directives?	
How do I get an advance directive?	
What happens if I lose my Medicaid coverage?	
What if I get a bill from my nursing facility? Who do I call?	
What information will they need?	
What is applied income? What are my responsibilities?	
What do I have to do if I move?	.36
Can my Medicare provider bill me for services or supplies if I am in both Medicare and Medicaid?	.36
What if I have other health insurance in addition to Medicaid?	.36
Medicaid and Private Insurance	
What are my rights and responsibilities?	.37
HOW WE MAKE DECISIONS ABOUT YOUR CARE	
QUALITY MANAGEMENT	39
What does quality management do for you?	
What are clinical practice guidelines?	
COMPLAINTS PROCESS	
What should I do if I have a complaint about my health care, my provider, my service	
coordinator, or my health plan? Who do I call?	.40
Can someone from Amerigroup help me file a complaint?	
How long will it take to process my complaint?	
What are the requirements and time frames for filing a complaint?	
How do I file a complaint with the Health and Human Services Commission once I have	
gone through the Amerigroup complaint process?	.40
Do I have the right to meet with a complaint appeal panel?	.41
APPEALS PROCESS	41
What can I do if my doctor asks for a service or medicine for me that is covered, but	
Amerigroup denies or limits it?	.41
How will I find out if services are denied?	
What are the time frames for the appeals process?	
How can I continue receiving services that were already approved?	
Can someone from Amerigroup help me file an appeal?	
Can I request an external medical review and state fair hearing?	
Can I request a state fair hearing only?	
EMERGENCY APPEALS	43
What is an emergency appeal?	.43
How do I ask for an emergency appeal? Does my request have to be in writing?	.43
What are the time frames for an emergency appeal?	
What happens if Amerigroup denies the request for an emergency appeal?	.43
Who can help me file an emergency appeal?	.44

STATE FAIR HEARINGS	.44
Can I ask for a state fair hearing?	
EXTERNAL MEDICAL REVIEW INFORMATION	.44
Can I ask for an external medical review?	44
HOW DO I REPORT SUSPECTED ABUSE, NEGLECT, OR EXPLOITATION?	.45
What are Abuse, Neglect, and Exploitation?	
Reporting Abuse, Neglect, and Exploitation	46
FRAUD AND ABUSE INFORMATION	.46
Do you want to report waste, abuse, or fraud?	46
INFORMATION THAT MUST BE AVAILABLE ON AN ANNUAL BASIS	.47
Member Guide to Managed Care Terms	.49

INFORMATION ABOUT YOUR NEW HEALTH PLAN

Welcome! As an Amerigroup STAR+PLUS nursing facility member, you and your primary care provider (or main doctor) will work together to help keep you healthy. Amerigroup members in the Medicaid Rural Service Area and the STAR Kids program are served by Amerigroup Insurance Company; all other Amerigroup members in Texas are served by Amerigroup Texas, Inc. To find out about doctors and hospitals in your area, visit myamerigroup.com/TX or contact Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711).

Your Amerigroup member handbook

This handbook will help you understand your Amerigroup health plan. If you have questions or need help understanding or reading your member handbook, call Member Services. You can also ask for this handbook in large print, audio, braille, or another language.

IMPORTANT PHONE NUMBERS

Amerigroup toll-free Member Services line

If you have any questions about your Amerigroup health plan, you can call our Member Services department toll-free at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711). You can call us Monday through Friday from 7 a.m. to 6 p.m. Central time, except for state-approved holidays. If you call after 6 p.m. or on a weekend or holiday, you can leave a voicemail message. A Member Services representative will call you back the next business day.

These are some of the things Member Services can help you with:

- This member handbook
- Member ID cards
- Service coordination and accessing services
- Your doctors
- Doctor appointments including 3-way calls with you and your doctor's office
- Transportation

- Health-care benefits
- What to do in an emergency or crisis
- Well care
- Special kinds of health care
- Healthy living
- Complaints and medical appeals
- Rights and responsibilities

You can also call 866-696-0710 (TTY 711) to learn more about service coordination.

If you have an emergency, your nursing facility will help you get emergency transportation and services if you need them.

For members who don't speak English, we can help you in many different languages and dialects, including Spanish. You may also get an interpreter for visits with your doctor at no cost to you. Please let us know if you need an interpreter at least 24 hours before your appointment. Call Member Services to learn more.

For members who are deaf or hard of hearing, call 711. If you need someone who knows sign language to help you at your doctor visits, we will set up and pay for a sign language interpreter. Please let us know if you need an interpreter at least 24 hours before your appointment.

If you ask for an interpreter less than 24 hours before your appointment, we will still do our best to have an interpreter available for you.

Amerigroup 24-hour Nurse HelpLine

You can call 24-Hour Nurse HelpLine 24 hours a day, seven days a week at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711). The call is free, and you can talk to someone in English or Spanish. For other languages, interpreter services are available. Call toll-free at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) if you need advice on:

- How soon you need care for an illness.
- What kind of health care you need.
- What to do to take care of yourself before you see the doctor.
- How you can get the care you need.

We want you to get the best care you can. Please call us if you have any problems with your services. We want to help you correct any problems you may have with your care.

Behavioral Health and Substance Use Disorder Services line

The Behavioral Health and Substance Use Disorder Services line is available to members, 24 hours a day, seven days a week at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711). The call is free, and you can talk to someone in English or Spanish. For other languages, interpreter services are available. You can call the Behavioral Health and Substance Use Disorder Services line for help in getting services. If you have an emergency, your nursing facility will help you get emergency transportation and services if you need them.

Other important phone numbers

STAR+PLUS Program Help Line	800-964-2777
Ombudsman Managed Care Assistance Team	866-566-8989
Medicaid Hotline	800-252-8263
Texas Client Notification Line	800-414-3406
Eye Care through Superior Vision of Texas	800-428-8789
Pharmacy Member Services	833-235-2022

YOUR AMERIGROUP ID CARD

What does my Amerigroup ID card look like? How do I use it?

If you don't have your Amerigroup ID card yet, you'll get it soon. Please carry it with you at all times. Show it to any doctor or hospital you visit. You don't need to show your ID card before you get emergency care. The card tells doctors and hospitals you're an Amerigroup member. It also tells them Amerigroup will pay for your medically-needed benefits listed in the **My Benefits** section.

Your Amerigroup ID card lists many of the important phone numbers you need to know, like our Member Services department and 24-hour Nurse HelpLine. If you don't have Medicare, your ID card will show the name and phone number of your primary care provider.

Below are sample ID cards for: 1) members who have Medicaid only and 2) members who have both Medicaid and Medicare.



2.

1.

Sample ID cards for Amerigroup members in the Medicaid Rural Service Area for: 1) members who have Medicaid only and 2) members who have both Medicaid and Medicare.



2.

1.

How do I replace my Amerigroup ID card if it is lost or stolen?

If your ID card is lost or stolen, call us right away at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711). We will send you a new one. You may also print your ID card from our website at myamerigroup.com/TX. You will need to register and log in to the website to access your ID card information.

Your Texas Benefits (YTB) Medicaid Card

When you are approved for Medicaid, you will get a YTB Medicaid Card. This plastic card will be your everyday Medicaid card. You should carry and protect it just like your driver's license or a credit card. Your doctor can use the card to find out if you have Medicaid benefits when you go for a visit.

You will be issued only one card, and will receive a new card only if your card is lost or stolen. If your Medicaid card is lost or stolen, you can get a new one by calling toll-free at 800-252-8263, or by going online to print a temporary card at YourTexasBenefits.com.

If you are not sure if you are covered by Medicaid, you can find out by calling toll-free at 800-252-8263. You can also call 2-1-1. First, pick a language and then pick option 2.

Your health information is a list of medical services and drugs that you have gotten through Medicaid. We share it with Medicaid doctors to help them decide what health care you need. If you don't want your doctors to see your medical and dental information through the secure online network, call toll-free at 800-252-8263 or opt out of sharing your health information at YourTexasBenefits.com.

Vember name:		
Member ID:		Note to Provider:
lssuer ID:	Date card sent:	Ask this member for the card from their Medicaid medical plan. Providers should use that card for billing assistance. No medical plan card? Pharmacists can use the non-managed care billing information on the back of this card.

The YTB Medicaid card has these facts printed on the front:

- Your name and Medicaid ID number
- The date the card was sent to you
- The name of the Medicaid program you're in if you get:
 - Medicare (QMB, MQMB)
 - Healthy Texas Women Program (HTW)
 - Hospice
 - o STAR Health
 - o Emergency Medicaid, or
 - Presumptive Eligibility for Pregnant Women (PE)
- Facts your drugstore will need to bill Medicaid
- The name of your doctor and drugstore if you're in the Medicaid Lock-in program

The back of the YTB Medicaid card has a website you can visit (YourTexasBenefits.com) and a phone number you can call toll-free (800-252-8263) if you have questions about the new card.

If you forget your card, your doctor, dentist, or drugstore can use the phone or the Internet to make sure you get Medicaid benefits.

The YourTexasBenefits.com Medicaid Client Portal

You can use the Medicaid Client Portal to do all of the following for yourself or anyone whose medical or dental information you are allowed to access:

- View, print, and order a YTB Medicaid card
- See your medical and dental plans
- See your benefit information
- See Texas Health Steps alerts
- See broadcast alerts
- See diagnoses and treatments
- See vaccines
- See prescription medicines
- Choose whether to let Medicaid doctors and staff see your available medical and dental information

To access the portal, go to YourTexasBenefits.com.

- Click Log In.
- Enter your User name and Password. If you don't have an account, click Create a new account.
- Click Manage.
- Go to the Quick links section.
- Click Medicaid & CHIP Services.
- Click View services and available health information.

Note: The YourTexasBenefits.com Medicaid Client Portal displays information for active clients only. A Legally Authorized Representative may view the information of anyone who is a part of their case.

What if I need a temporary ID verification form?

If you've lost or don't have access to Your Texas Benefits Medicaid card and need a temporary Medicaid ID card, you need to fill out a temporary ID verification form (Form 1027-A). You can get this form by calling your local HHSC benefits office. To find your local HHSC benefits office, call 2-1-1, pick a language, and then pick option 2. Show this form to your provider the same way you would present the Your Texas Benefits Medicaid card. Your provider will accept this form as proof of Medicaid eligibility. You can also go online at YourTexasBenefits.com and print a temporary ID card after logging into your account.

PRIMARY CARE PROVIDERS

What is a primary care provider?

A primary care provider is the main doctor you see for most of your regular health care. Your primary care provider must be in the Amerigroup plan. Your primary care provider will give you a medical home.

A medical home means that he or she will get to know you and your health history and help you get the best possible care. He or she will also send you to other doctors, specialists, or hospitals when you need special care or services. When you enrolled in Amerigroup, you should have picked a primary care provider. If you didn't, we assigned you one. We picked one who should be located close to you.

Will I be assigned a primary care provider if I have Medicare?

Your primary care provider and your acute care coverage is through your Medicare plan. Refer to your Medicare Evidence of Coverage to understand:

- What a primary care provider is.
- Who can be a primary care provider.
- How to change your primary care provider.
- How to get care.

If you have Medicare, some of the information in this handbook about primary care providers and specialists won't apply to you.

How do I see my primary care provider if he/she does not visit my nursing home?

If you don't need ambulance transportation, your nursing facility should provide you with rides to your medical appointments.

How can I change my primary care provider?

Call Member Services if you need to change your primary care provider. You can look in the Amerigroup provider directory you got with your STAR+PLUS enrollment package or go to myamerigroup.com/TX to find a primary care provider.

When will my primary care provider change become effective?

We can change your doctor on the same day you ask for the change. The change will be effective immediately. Call the doctor's office if you want to make an appointment. If you need help making an appointment, call Member Services. We'll help you make the appointment.

How do I get medical care after my primary care provider's office is closed?

If you need to talk to your primary care provider after the office closed, call the provider's office. Someone should call you back within 30 minutes to tell you what to do. You may also call 24-hour Nurse HelpLine at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) seven days a week for help.

If you have an emergency, your nursing facility will help you get emergency transportation and services if you need them.

What is the Medicaid Lock-in program?

You may be placed in the Lock-in program if you do not follow Medicaid rules. It checks how you use Medicaid pharmacy services. Your Medicaid benefits remain the same. Changing to a different MCO will not change the Lock-in status.

To avoid being placed in the Medicaid Lock-in program:

• Pick one drugstore at one location to use all the time.

- Be sure your main doctor, main dentist, or the specialists they refer you to are the only doctors that give you prescriptions.
- Do not get the same type of medicine from different doctors.

To learn more, call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711).

You may be approved to get medication from another pharmacy in some cases, such as:

- You move out of the geographical area (more than 15 miles from the lock-in pharmacy).
- The lock-in pharmacy does not have the prescribed medication and it will not be available for more than 2–3 days.
- The lock-in pharmacy is closed for the day and you need the medication urgently.

You should call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) if you need approval to fill a medication at a pharmacy other than the lock-in pharmacy.

PHYSICIAN INCENTIVE PLANS

Amerigroup rewards doctors for treatments that are cost-effective for people covered by Medicaid. You have the right to know if your primary care provider (main doctor) is part of this physician incentive plan. You also have a right to know how the plan works. You can call 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) to learn more about this.

CHANGING HEALTH PLANS

What if I want to change health plans?

You can change your health plan by calling the STAR+PLUS Program Helpline at 800-964-2777. You can change health plans as often as you want, but not more than once a month.

If you are in the hospital, a residential Substance Use Disorder (SUD) treatment facility, or residential detoxification facility for SUD, you will not be able to change health plans until you have been discharged.

If you call to change your health plan on or before the 15th of the month, the change will take place on the first day of the next month. If you call after the 15th of the month, the change will take place the first day of the second month after that. For example:

- If you call on or before April 15, your change will take place on May 1.
- If you call after April 15, your change will take place on June 1.

If you aren't happy with us, please call Member Services. We'll work with you to try to fix the problem. If you're still not happy, you can change to another health plan.

Who do I call?

You can change your health plan by calling the STAR+PLUS Program Helpline at 800-964-2777.

How many times can I change health plans?

You can change health plans as often as you want, but not more than once a month.

When will my health plan change become effective?

If you call to change your health plan on or before the 15th of the month, the change will take place on the first day of the next month. If you call after the 15th of the month, the change will take place the first day of the second month after that. For example:

- If you call on or before April 15, your change will take place on May 1.
- If you call after April 15, your change will take place on June 1.

Can Amerigroup ask that I get dropped from their health plan for noncompliance?

There are several reasons you could be disenrolled or dropped from Amerigroup. These reasons are listed below. If you have done something that may lead to disenrollment, we'll contact you. We'll ask you to tell us what happened.

You could be disenrolled from Amerigroup if:

- You're no longer eligible for Medicaid.
- You let someone else use your Amerigroup ID card.
- You try to hurt a provider, a staff person, or an Amerigroup associate.
- You steal or destroy provider or Amerigroup property.
- You go to the emergency room over and over again when you don't have an emergency.
- You go to doctors or medical facilities outside the Amerigroup plan over and over again unless you are covered by Medicare.
- You try to hurt other patients or make it hard for other patients to get the care they need.

If you have any questions about your enrollment, call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711).

MY BENEFITS

What are my health-care benefits?

The nursing facility provides your daily care services and add-on services benefits. Amerigroup also provides you with acute care benefits like doctor visits, hospitalizations, prescriptions, and behavioral health services. If you have both Medicare and Medicaid, your acute care benefits will be covered by the traditional Medicare plan you chose.

How do I get these services?

Your nursing facility will provide or help you get nursing facility benefits. Your nursing facility and primary care provider will help you get acute care. Your service coordinator will help make sure you get all the health-care services you need.

What if Amerigroup doesn't have a provider for one of my covered benefits?

If you can't get a covered benefit from a provider in our plan, we'll arrange for you to get the services from a provider outside of our plan. We'll reimburse the provider outside of our plan according to state rules. Call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) to arrange services with a provider outside of our plan. You don't have to call us to get services outside of our plan when you have an emergency.

How much do I have to pay for my health care?

There are no costs for your benefits except the monthly applied income amount you pay the nursing

facility. You will not pay deductibles or copays. To learn more about your applied income payment, see the section in this handbook, **What is applied income? What are my responsibilities?**

What are long-term services and supports?

Long-term services and supports are benefits to help you perform everyday tasks to care for yourself such as fixing meals, eating, personal care, light housekeeping, and skilled nursing care. The types and amounts of long-term services and supports benefits you can get will depend on your needs.

What are my nursing facility long-term services and supports benefits?

A nursing facility provides long-term care to members whose doctor has certified that the member has a medical condition that requires medically necessary daily skilled nursing care. Amerigroup covers daily care nursing facility services, nursing facility add-on services, and Medicare coinsurance for daily care services. Daily care services include:

- Room and board.
- Medical supplies and equipment.
- Social services programs provided by the nursing facility to help you.
- Personal needs items.
- Over-the-counter drugs.
- Medicare Part A coinsurance.

Amerigroup will also pay for any applicable nursing facility staff rate enhancements and applicable professional and general liability insurance.

Add-on services is care provided at the nursing facility that is not part of daily care services and includes, but is not limited to:

- Emergency dental services.
- Physician-ordered rehabilitative services (physical, occupational, speech therapies).
- Customized power wheelchairs.
- Augmentative communication devices.
- Tracheostomy care for members age 21.
- Ventilator care.

If you have both Medicaid and Medicare, Amerigroup will pay the coinsurance for a Medicare covered stay as part of your nursing facility daily care services. Your Medicare plan or fee-for-service Medicaid will pay the coinsurance for nursing facility add-on services.

How would my benefits change if I moved into the community?

You would be able to get community-based long-term services and supports benefits instead of nursing facility benefits. The kind of benefits you would be able to get is based on your Medicaid eligibility category. Medicaid eligibility is based on your needs, and there are three eligibility categories:

- Other Community Care (OCC) basic benefits
- Community First Choice (CFC) mid-level benefits
- Home and Community Based Services (HCBS) STAR+PLUS Waiver (SPW) high level benefits for members with complex needs

The higher your level of eligibility based on your needs, the more benefits you may be able to get. Below is a list of some of the community-based long-term services and supports benefits you could get based on your needs:

- Primary home care/personal assistance services
 Adult foster care/personal home care
- Day activity and health services
- Nursing services (in home)
- Emergency response services (emergency call button)
- Dental services
- Home-delivered meals
- Minor home modifications
- Adaptive aids
- Durable medical equipment
- Medical supplies
- Physical, occupational and speech therapy

- Assisted living
- Transition assistance services for members leaving a nursing facility — \$2,500 maximum
- Respite care
- Dietitian/nutritional service •
- Transportation assistance
- Cognitive rehabilitation therapy
- Financial management services
- Support consultation
- Employment assistance
- Supported employment

What are my acute care benefits?

Your primary care provider will give you the care you need or refer you to a doctor. Some Amerigroup benefits are only for members who are a certain age or have a certain kind of health problem. If you have a question or aren't sure if we offer a certain benefit, call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711).

If you have both Medicare and Medicaid, your acute care benefits will be covered by Medicare or the Medicare plan you have picked.

STAR+PLUS covered services include but are not limited to medically necessary:

- Emergency and nonemergency ambulance services.
- Audiology services including hearing aids.
- Behavioral health services, including:
 - Inpatient mental health services.
 - Outpatient mental health services.
 - Psychiatry services.
 - Mental health rehabilitative services.
 - Counseling services.
 - Outpatient substance use disorder treatment services, including:
 - Assessment.
 - Detoxification.
 - Counseling.
 - Medication-assisted therapy.
 - Residential substance use disorder treatment (including room and board and detoxification services).
 - Psychological and neuropsychological testing.
- Birthing services provided by a doctor or certified nurse-midwife in a licensed birthing center.
- Birthing services provided by a licensed birthing center.
- Cancer screening, diagnosis, and treatment.
- Chiropractic services.
- Dialysis.
- Emergency services.
- Family planning.
- Federally qualified health center services and other ambulatory services covered by federally

qualified health centers.

- Hospital services, including inpatient and outpatient.
- Laboratory services.
- Mastectomy, breast reconstruction and related follow-up procedures, including:
 - Inpatient services; outpatient services provided at an outpatient hospital or ambulatory healthcare center, as clinically appropriate; and physician and professional services provided in an office, inpatient, or outpatient setting for:
 - All stages of reconstruction on the breast(s) on which medically-necessary mastectomy procedure(s) have been performed.
 - Surgery and reconstruction on the other breast to produce symmetrical appearance.
 - Treatment of physical complications from the mastectomy and treatment of lymphedemas.
 - Prophylactic mastectomy to prevent the development of breast cancer.
 - External breast prosthesis for the breast(s) on which medically necessary mastectomy procedure(s) have been performed.
- Mental health targeted case management.
- Outpatient drugs and biologicals, including those dispensed by a pharmacy or administered by a provider.
- Drugs and biologicals provided in an inpatient setting.
- Podiatry.
- Prenatal care.
- Preventive services, including an annual adult well-checkup.
- Primary care.
- Radiology, imaging, and X-rays.
- Specialty physician services.
- Telehealth.
- Telemedicine.
- Telemonitoring, to the extent covered by Texas Government Code §531.01276.
- Transplantation of organs and tissues.
- Vision (includes optometry and glasses; contact lenses are only covered if they are medically necessary for vision correction that cannot be accomplished by glasses).

How do I get these services? What number do I call to find out about these services?

Your primary care provider will help you get these types of services. You can also call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711). You can also talk to your service coordinator to learn more.

Are there any limits to any covered services?

There may be some limits to care based on Medicaid covered benefits. You can call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) or talk to your service coordinator to learn more about benefits and limitations.

What is preapproval?

Some treatment, care, or services may need our approval before your doctor can provide them. This is called preapproval. Your doctor will work directly with us to get the approval. The following require preapproval:

- Most surgeries, including some outpatient surgeries
- All elective and nonurgent inpatient services and admissions

- Chiropractic services
- Most behavioral health and substance abuse services (except routine outpatient and emergency services)
- Certain prescriptions
- Certain durable medical equipment, including prosthetics and orthotics
- Certain gastroenterology procedures
- Digital hearing aids
- Home health services
- Hospice services
- Rehabilitation therapy (physical, occupational, respiratory, and speech therapies)
- Sleep studies
- Out-of-area or out-of-network care except in an emergency
- Advanced imaging (things like MRAs, MRIs, CT scans, and CTA scans)
- Certain pain management testing and procedures

This list is subject to change without notice and isn't a complete list of covered plan benefits. Please call Member Services with questions about specific services.

What services are not covered by Amerigroup?

Amerigroup doesn't offer the benefits and services below. These services aren't covered by fee-forservice Medicaid either.

- Anything that isn't medically necessary
- Anything experimental, such as new treatment being tested or hasn't been shown to work
- Cosmetic surgery that isn't medically necessary
- Routine foot care except for members with diabetes or poor circulation
- Fertility treatment services
- Treatment for disabilities connected to military service
- Weight loss program services
- Reversal of voluntary sterilization
- Private room and personal comfort items when hospitalized
- Sex reassignment surgery

To learn more about services not covered by Amerigroup, please call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711).

What is service coordination?

Service coordination is a specialized services/care process that includes, but is not limited to:

- Identifying the physical, mental, or long-term needs of the member.
- Addressing any unique needs of the member that could improve outcomes and health/well-being.
- Assisting the member to ensure timely and coordinated access to an array of services and/or covered Medicaid eligible services.
- Partnering with the nursing facility to ensure best possible outcomes for the member's health and safety.
- Coordinating the delivery of services for members who are transitioning back to the community.

How can I talk with a service coordinator?

You will have your own Amerigroup service coordinator. We will send you a letter telling you the name and contact information for your service coordinator. You can also call 866-696-0710 (TTY 711) to learn more about service coordination.

What will a service coordinator do for me?

When you first become an Amerigroup member, the state sends us information about your health and the services you get from Medicaid. Your service coordinator will read this information to find out more about you. He or she will learn which providers to call to be sure you keep getting needed care. He or she will ask you how helpful your Medicaid services have been. We'll talk to your Medicaid providers about the care you have been getting. And, if you agree, we'll talk to your doctors about your health-care needs.

Your service coordinator will help you get the care you need by:

- Visiting you in your nursing facility to learn more about your health needs and goals.
- Working with you to create a service plan that meets your needs.
- Helping you see your providers when you need to and get needed services including preventive health services.
- Making sure all of your long-term support covered services, your acute care services, and other social services you get outside of Amerigroup are coordinated.
- Helping you get authorizations for medically needed services.
- Encouraging you to take part in your care.

How do I know who my service coordinator is?

When we assign you a service coordinator, we'll send you a letter with his or her name and phone number. We'll send this information each year and anytime your service coordinator changes. You can also find the name and phone number of your personal service coordinator on our website at myamerigroup.com/TX. You will need to click the **Login** button and register for Member Self Service in order to see your personal information. You can also call Member Services to get your service coordinator's name and contact information.

What are my prescription drug benefits?

Medicaid pays for most medicine your doctor prescribes. Your doctor will write a prescription and send it to your nursing facility. Your nursing facility will order and give you the medicine as prescribed by your doctor. If you have Medicare prescription drug benefits, your Medicare plan will provide your prescription drugs. If Medicare doesn't cover your medicine, Medicaid pays for most medicine your doctor says you need.

What extra benefits do I get as a member of Amerigroup?

Amerigroup gives you extra health-care benefits just for being our STAR+PLUS nursing facility member. These extra benefits are also called value-added benefits. We give you these benefits to help keep you healthy and to thank you for choosing Amerigroup as your health-care plan. Call Member Services to learn more about these extra benefits or visit our website at myamerigroup.com/TX.

Value-added benefit	How to get it
 Healthy Rewards gift card for completing these healthy activities (for members who do not have Medicare): \$20 every 6 months for a member with diabetes who has a blood sugar test (HbA1c) \$20 every 6 months for a member with diabetes who has a blood sugar test (HbA1c) with a result less than 8 	 To receive a reward: Join the Healthy Rewards program within 30 days after you complete an eligible healthy activity while you are an Amerigroup member Your provider will report healthy activities by submitting a claim within 95 days of your visit If you have not received a reward, you must request it within 6 months after the date of your activity To join the Healthy Rewards program or find information about the program and rewards: Log in to your account at myamerigroup.com/TX to access the Benefit Rewards Hub from the Benefits page or Call the Healthy Rewards Customer Service Line at 888-990-8681 (TTY 711) Monday through Friday from 8 a.m. to 7 p.m. Central time
Enhanced vision benefits — plastic/polycarbonate lenses — once every 36 months (for members who don't have Medicare)	Call 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) or go to myamerigroup.com/TX for more information.
Online mental health — secure web and mobile tools you can use 24/7 to help improve your mental and emotional health	 Visit mystrength.com/amerigrouptx or download the myStrength mobile app. Choose Sign up. Complete a brief myStrength Wellness Assessment and personal profile.
Coping with COVID online toolkit — provides 24/7 support and activities to help cope with the COVID-19 pandemic	 Visit mystrength.com/amerigrouptx or download the myStrength mobile app. Choose Sign up. Complete a brief myStrength Wellness Assessment and personal profile.

Value-added benefit	How to get it
 Free cellphone/smartphone through the Lifeline program with monthly minutes, data, and texts. If you qualify, you also get: Unlimited calls to Member Services, member advocates, and service coordinators for calls placed through Member Services. 200 bonus minutes when you join. 100 bonus minutes for your birthday. 	Call 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) or go to myamerigroup.com/TX for more information. Birthday bonus minutes start the month after you join. To see if you qualify for the federal Lifeline Assistance program, go to safelinkwireless.com and fill out the application.
First-aid kit and a personal disaster plan (1 kit per member per lifetime)	Log in to your account at myamerigroup.com/TX to access the Benefit Rewards Hub from the Benefits page or call 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) or your service coordinator.
Personal exercise kit — 1 kit per year (for members who do not have Medicare)	Log in to your account at myamerigroup.com/TX to access the Benefit Rewards Hub from the Benefits page or call 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) or your service coordinator.
Dental hygiene kit — 1 kit per year (for members who do not have Medicare)	Log in to your account at myamerigroup.com/TX to access the Benefit Rewards Hub from the Benefits page or call 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) or your service coordinator.
Personal remembrance photo album — 1 album per lifetime	Call 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) or your service coordinator.
Personalized labels to identify personal belongings — 1 set every 2 years	Call 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) or your service coordinator.
Educational materials for members in one of our disease management programs for diabetes, asthma, substance use disorder, or hypertension	Call 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) or go to myamerigroup.com/TX for more information.

Value-added benefit	How to get it
Help with weight management through a program with 24/7 online access to resources, tools, and activities on healthy snacking, portion management, weight goals, extra calories, and exercise tips	 Visit mystrength.com/amerigrouptx or download the myStrength mobile app. Choose Sign up. Complete a brief myStrength Wellness Assessment and personal profile.
Nicotine recovery support program online through web or mobile app. Personalized support and interactive tools for all stages of recovery from nicotine including smoking, vaping, and smokeless tobacco.	 Visit mystrength.com/amerigrouptx or download the myStrength mobile app. Choose Sign up. Complete a brief myStrength Wellness Assessment and personal profile.
Pregnancy and early parenting program online 24/7 through web or mobile app to support expecting and new parents	 Visit mystrength.com/amerigrouptx or download the myStrength mobile app. Choose Sign up. Complete a brief myStrength Wellness Assessment and personal profile.
Social services resource directory online to help locate community supports such as food and nutrition, housing, education, and employment services	To find services near you, visit myamerigroup.com/TX and select Community Support under <i>Get Help</i> .

How do I get these extra benefits?

Call Member Services or your service coordinator to find out how to get these services. Once we learn about your needs, we'll help you get the right extra benefits.

What health education classes does Amerigroup offer or help you find?

Most health education for our STAR+PLUS nursing facility members is conducted personally by service coordinators and our case management program. You can also access health and wellness information on the member website at myamerigroup.com/TX or call Member Services or 24-hour Nurse HelpLine at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) for help.

What is Complex Case Management? How do I get these services?

In our Complex Case Management program, case managers help manage your health care if you have special needs. A case manager may be able to help you if you have experienced a critical event or have been diagnosed with a serious health condition such as diabetes. We also have special case managers for members who are pregnant.

You don't need a referral from your doctor to get these services. You can contact the Complex Case Management program by calling Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) and asking to speak to a complex case manager. Our case managers are licensed nurses and social workers, available Monday

through Friday from 8 a.m. to 5 p.m. Central time. Case managers also have confidential voicemail available 24 hours a day.

What is a Member with Special Health Care Needs?

A Member with Special Health Care Needs (MSHCN) is a member who both:

- Has a serious ongoing illness, a chronic or complex condition, or a disability that will likely last for a long period of time.
- Requires regular, ongoing treatment and evaluation for the condition by appropriate health-care personnel.

All STAR+PLUS members qualify as MSHCN. A service coordinator will work with you to make sure your care plan meets your specific needs.

As a MSHCN, you may have a specialist serve as your primary care provider and be treated by a team of doctors and specialists when needed.

Call us at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) if you need help getting these services.

What services can I still get through regular Medicaid, but are not covered by Amerigroup?

We can help you with services covered by fee-for-service Medicaid instead of Amerigroup. You don't need a referral from your primary care provider to get these services. Fee-for-service Medicaid benefits include:

- Department of Health and Human Services (HHSC) hospice services.
- Preadmission Screening and Resident Review (PASRR) This is an assessment you will have to see if living in a nursing facility is right for you.

MY HEALTH CARE AND OTHER SERVICES

What does medically necessary mean?

Your primary care provider will help you get the services you need that are medically necessary as defined below:

Medically necessary means:

- 1. For members ages 21 and over, nonbehavioral health-related health-care services that are:
 - a) Reasonable and necessary to prevent illnesses or medical conditions, or provide early screening, interventions, or treatments for conditions that cause suffering or pain, cause physical deformity or limitations in function, threaten to cause or worsen a disability, cause illness or infirmity of a member, or endanger life.
 - b) Provided at appropriate facilities and at the appropriate levels of care for the treatment of a member's health conditions.
 - c) Consistent with health-care practice guidelines and standards that are endorsed by professionally recognized health-care organizations or governmental agencies.
 - d) Consistent with the diagnoses of the conditions.

- e) No more intrusive or restrictive than necessary to provide a proper balance of safety, effectiveness, and efficiency.
- f) Not experimental or investigative, and
- g) Not primarily for the convenience of the member or provider.
- 2) For members ages 21 and over, behavioral health services that:
 - a. Are reasonable and necessary for the diagnosis or treatment of a mental health or chemical dependency disorder, or to improve, maintain, or prevent deterioration of functioning resulting from such a disorder.
 - b. Are in accordance with professionally accepted clinical guidelines and standards of practice in behavioral health care.
 - c. Are furnished in the most appropriate and least restrictive setting in which services can be safely provided.
 - d. Are the most appropriate level or supply of service that can safely be provided.
 - e. Could not be omitted without adversely affecting the member's mental and/or physical health or the quality of care rendered.
 - f. Are not experimental or investigative, and
 - g. Are not primarily for the convenience of the member or provider.

Amerigroup will determine medical necessity for nursing facility add-on services. Amerigroup or your Medicare plan will determine medical necessity for acute care, behavioral health services and prescription drugs. Nursing facility add-on services include, but are not limited to emergency dental services, physician-ordered rehabilitative services, customized power wheelchairs, and audio communication devices.

If you have questions regarding an authorization, a request for services, or a utilization management question, you can call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711).

How is new technology evaluated?

The Amerigroup medical director and our providers look at advances in medical technology and new ways to use existing medical technology. We look at advances in:

- Medical procedures.
- Behavioral health procedures.
- Medicines.
- Devices.

We review scientific information and government approvals to find out if the treatment works and is safe. We will consider covering new technology only if the technology provides equal or better outcomes than the existing covered treatment or therapy.

What is routine medical care?

Routine care includes regular checkups, preventive care, and appointments for minor injuries and illnesses. Your primary care provider sees you when you're not feeling well, but that is only part of his or her job. He or she also takes care of you before you get sick. This is called well care. See the section in this handbook, **When should adults get checkups?**

How soon can I expect to be seen?

You should be able to see your primary care provider within 2 weeks for routine care.

Are nonemergency dental services covered?

Amerigroup is **not responsible** for paying for routine dental services provided to Medicaid members. Amerigroup **is responsible**, however, for paying for treatment and devices for craniofacial anomalies.

What is emergency medical care?

Another type of care is emergency care. If you have an emergency, your nursing facility will help you get the services you need.

Emergency medical care

Emergency medical care is provided for emergency medical conditions and emergency behavioral health conditions.

Emergency medical condition means:

A medical condition manifesting itself by acute symptoms of recent onset and sufficient severity (including severe pain) such that a prudent layperson, who possesses an average knowledge of health and medicine, could reasonably expect the absence of immediate medical care could result in:

- Placing the patient's health in serious jeopardy.
- Serious impairment to bodily functions.
- Serious dysfunction of any bodily organ or part.
- Serious disfigurement, or
- In the case of a pregnant woman, serious jeopardy to the health of a woman or her unborn child.

Emergency behavioral health condition means:

Any condition, without regard to the nature or cause of the condition, which in the opinion of a prudent layperson, possessing average knowledge of medicine and health:

- Requires immediate intervention or medical attention without which the member would present an immediate danger to themselves or others, or
- Which renders the member incapable of controlling, knowing, or understanding the consequences of their actions.

Emergency services and emergency care means:

Covered inpatient and outpatient services furnished by a provider that is qualified to furnish such services and that are needed to evaluate or stabilize an emergency medical condition or emergency behavioral health condition, including post-stabilization care services.

How soon can I expect to be seen?

You should be able to see your doctor immediately for emergency care.

Do I need a prior authorization?

You don't need a prior authorization for emergency care.

Are emergency dental services covered?

Amerigroup covers limited emergency dental services for the following:

- Dislocated jaw.
- Traumatic damage to teeth and supporting structures.
- Removal of cysts.
- Treatment of oral abscess of tooth or gum origin.
- Drugs for any of the above conditions.

Amerigroup is responsible for emergency dental services provided to Medicaid members in a hospital or ambulatory surgical center setting. We will pay for hospital, physician, and related medical services (e.g., anesthesia and drugs).

Covered emergency dental procedures include, but are not limited to:

- Alleviation of extreme pain in oral cavity associated with serious infection or swelling.
- Repair of damage from loss of tooth due to trauma (acute care only, no restoration).
- Open or closed reduction of fracture of the maxilla or mandible.
- Repair of laceration in or around oral cavity.
- Excision of neoplasms, including benign, malignant, and premalignant lesions, tumors, and cysts.
- Incision and drainage of cellulitis.
- Root canal therapy; payment is subject to dental necessity review and pre- and post-operative X-rays are required.
- Extractions: single tooth, permanent; single tooth, primary; supernumerary teeth; soft tissue impaction; partial bony impaction; complete bony impaction; surgical extraction of erupted tooth or residual root tip.

How soon can I see my doctor?

We know how important it is for you to see your doctor. We work with the providers in our plan to make sure you can see them when you need to. Our providers must follow the access standards listed below.

Standard name	Amerigroup	
Emergency services	As soon as you arrive at the provider for care	
Urgent care	Within 24 hours of request	
After-hours care	Primary care providers are available 24/7 directly or through an answering service. Refer to the How do I get medical care after my primary care provider's office is closed? section of this handbook.	
Routine primary care	Within 14 days of request	
Routine specialty care	Within 3 weeks of request	
Preventive health	Within 90 days of request	
Primary care follow-up visit after emergency room visit or hospital stay	Within 14 days of visit or discharge	
Prenatal care		
Initial visit	Within 14 days of request	
Initial visit for high risk or 3rd trimester	Within 5 days of request or immediately, if an emergency exists	

Standard name	Amerigroup
After initial visit	Based on the provider's treatment plan
Behavioral Health	
Non-life-threatening emergency	Within 6 hours of request
Urgent care	Within 24 hours of request
Initial visit for routine care	The earlier of 10 business days or 14 calendar days from
	request
Follow-up visit for routine care	Within 3 weeks of request
Follow-up visit after hospital stay	Within 7 days of discharge

What is post-stabilization?

Post-stabilization care services are services covered by Medicaid that keep your condition stable following emergency medical care.

What if I get sick when I am out of the facility and traveling out of town?

If you need medical care when traveling, call us toll-free at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) and we will help you find a doctor.

If you need emergency services while travelling, go to a nearby hospital, then call us toll-free at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711).

What if I am out of the state?

If you are outside of Texas and need medical care, please call us toll-free at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711). If you need emergency care, go to the nearest hospital emergency room or call 911.

What if I am out of the country?

Medical services performed out of the country are not covered by Medicaid.

What if I need to see a special doctor (specialist)?

Your primary care provider can take care of most of your health-care needs, but you may also need care from other kinds of doctors. These doctors are called specialists because they have training in a special area of medicine. Examples of specialists are:

• Allergists (allergy doctors)

• Podiatrists (foot doctors)

Dermatologists (skin doctors)

• Oncologists (cancer doctors)

• Cardiologists (heart doctors)

We cover services from many different kinds of doctors who provide specialist care. If your primary care provider can't give you needed care, he or she can refer you to a specialist in the Amerigroup plan.

You can choose a specialist to serve as your primary care provider if the specialist agrees to provide your primary care services. Please call Member Services so we can arrange this for you.

What is a referral? What services do not need a referral?

A referral is when your primary care provider sends you to another doctor or service for care. If your primary care provider can't give you the care you need, he or she must refer you to a specialist in the

Amerigroup plan. You can see a specialist without a referral from your primary care provider. It's always best to talk to your primary care provider first about any additional care you need. Your primary care provider can give you information about other doctors in the Amerigroup plan and help coordinate all the care you receive.

If you have Medicare, follow your Medicare plan's referral rules for Medicare covered services.

How soon can I expect to be seen by a specialist?

You'll be able to see the specialist within three weeks from when you call the specialist's office.

How can I ask for a second opinion?

You have the right to ask for a second opinion about the health-care services you need. This doesn't cost you anything. You can get a second opinion from another doctor in our plan. Or, if a doctor in our plan isn't available for a second opinion, your primary care provider can submit a request to us to approve for you to see a doctor who isn't in our plan. If you have Medicare, contact your Medicare plan and ask how to get a second opinion.

How do I get help if I have behavioral (mental) health, alcohol, or drug problems?

Sometimes, the stress of life can lead to depression, anxiety, marriage and family problems, parenting problems, or alcohol and drug abuse. If you or a family member is having these kinds of problems, we have doctors who can help. Call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) for help finding a doctor who will help you. All services and treatment are strictly confidential. If you have Medicare, contact your Medicare plan for help in finding a doctor.

Do I need a referral for this?

You don't need a referral from your doctor to get help for behavioral health, alcohol, or drug problems.

What are Mental Health Rehabilitative Services and Mental Health Targeted Case Management?

These services are available to you if you need them based on an appropriate standardized assessment by a mental health professional.

Mental Health Rehabilitative Services are services to help you become able to live in your home or the community such as:

- Medication training and support.
- Psychosocial rehabilitative services.
- Skills training and development.
- Crisis intervention.
- Day program for acute needs.

Mental Health Targeted Case Management helps you access medical, social, educational, and other services and supports that can help improve your health and your ability to function.

How do I get Mental Health Rehabilitation Services or Mental Health Targeted Care Management? Call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) to learn more about available resources. If you have Medicare, contact your Medicare plan to find out if you can get these services.

How do I get my medications?

Medicaid pays for most medicine your doctor says you need. Your doctor will write a prescription and send the prescription for you by calling, faxing, or submitting by electronic means to the nursing facility to order, fill, dispense, and administer to you.

What if I also have Medicare?

You should use your Medicare Part D coverage first to get your medicine. If Medicare does not cover your medicine, Medicaid pays for most medicine your doctor says you need.

How do I find a network drugstore?

Your nursing facility will find you a drugstore in the Amerigroup plan. You can also call Member Services for help at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711).

What if I go to a drugstore not in the network?

The pharmacist will explain that they do not accept Amerigroup. You will need to have your prescription filled at a pharmacy that accepts Amerigroup.

What do I bring with me to the drugstore?

If you go to the drugstore, you should bring:

- Your prescription(s) or medicine bottles.
- Your Amerigroup ID card or your Medicare plan ID card.
- Your Texas Benefits Medicaid card.

What if I need my medications delivered to me?

Many pharmacies provide delivery services. Your nursing facility will work with a pharmacy to get your medications delivered for you.

Who do I call if I have problems getting my medications?

If you have problems getting your Amerigroup covered medications, please call us at 833-235-2022 (TTY 711). We can work with you, the nursing facility, and the pharmacy to make sure you get the medicine you need.

What if I can't get the medication my doctor ordered approved?

Some medications require our preapproval. If your doctor can't be reached to approve a prescription, you may be able to get a 3-day emergency supply of your medication. Call Amerigroup at 833-235-2022 (TTY 711) for help with your medications and refills. Ask your pharmacist to dispense a 3-day supply.

What if I lose my medication(s)?

If your medicine is lost or stolen, have your nursing facility call us at 800-454-3730.

How do I find out what drugs are covered?

Your doctor can choose drugs from the Vendor Drug Program (VDP) list of drugs. It includes all medicines covered by Medicaid.

To view the list, go to the Texas Vendor Drug Formulary page at txvendordrug.com/formulary.

Your medication may be available as a generic drug. A generic drug has the same Food and Drug Administration (FDA) indication as the corresponding brand-name drug and is approved by the FDA. This means both drugs are approved for treatment of the same conditions. Your pharmacy will usually give you the generic drug if it's on the Vendor Drug Program (VDP) formulary. If your prescription says you need the brand-name drug, we will cover the brand name drug instead of giving you a generic.

Will I have a copay?

Medicaid members don't have copays.

How do I get my medicine if I am traveling?

If you need a refill while traveling, call your doctor for a new prescription to take with you. If you get medication from a pharmacy that's not in the Amerigroup plan, then you'll have to pay for that medication. If you pay for medication, you may submit a request for reimbursement. Call us at 833-235-2022 (TTY 711) to get information on how to get a reimbursement form and submit a claim.

What if I paid out of pocket for a medicine and want to be reimbursed?

If you had to pay for a medicine, you may submit a request for reimbursement. Call us at 833-235-2022 (TTY 711) to get a reimbursement form and submit a claim. The reimbursement form is also available online at myamerigroup.com/TX under *Benefits* for Pharmacy.

How do I get family planning services?

Amerigroup will arrange for counseling and education about planning a pregnancy or preventing pregnancy. You can call your primary care provider for help or go to any Medicaid family planning provider.

Do I need a referral for this?

You do not need a referral from your doctor.

Where do I find a family planning services provider?

You can find the locations of family planning providers near you online at healthytexaswomen.org/family-planning-program, or you can call Amerigroup at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) for help in finding a family planning provider.

When should adults get checkups?

Staying healthy means seeing your doctor for regular checkups. Use the chart below to make sure you are up-to-date with your yearly well-care exams.

Wellness visits schedule for adult members			
ΕΧΑΜ ΤΥΡΕ	WHO NEEDS IT?	HOW OFTEN?	
Well-care visit	Ages 21 and older	Every year	
Pelvic exam	Women ages 18 and over	Every year	
Pap smear	Women ages 21–29	Pap smear only — every 3 years	

1		
	Women ages 30–65	Pap smear only — every 3 years Pap smear/human papillomavirus (HPV) cotesting every 5 years
	Warran agas 20, 20	
Clinical preast exam	Women ages 20–39	Every 3 years
	Women Ages 40 and over	Every year
Breast self-exam	Women ages 20 and over	Once a month
Mammograms (breast X-ray)	Women ages 40 and over	Every year or as recommended by your doctor
Fecal blood occult	Ages 50 and over	Every year
Sigmoidoscopy and DRE/PSA or colonoscopy and DRE/PSA	Ages 50 and over	Every 5 years

Amerigroup transportation services for nursing facility residents

What transportation services are offered?

The nursing facility is responsible for providing routine non-emergency transportation services. If medically necessary, Amerigroup provides non-emergency ambulance transportation for members that require this service.

How do I get this service?

To get non-emergency ambulance transportation, your doctor must contact Amerigroup to ask for authorization for these services. Your doctor can submit a request by fax to 844-206-3445 or by phone at 866-696-0710.

If you have an emergency and need transportation, your nursing facility will help you get the services you need.

Who do I call for a ride to a medical appointment?

If you don't need ambulance transportation, your nursing facility should provide you with rides to your medical appointments.

How do I get eye care services?

You get eye care benefits. You don't need a referral from your doctor for these benefits. Please call Superior Vision of Texas at 800-428-8789 for help finding a network eye doctor (optometrist) in your area.

Members get coverage for a vision exam, medically necessary frames, and certain plastic lenses every 24 months.

If you have both Medicare and Medicaid, your vision benefits will be provided by Medicare or the Medicare plan you have picked.

Can someone interpret for me when I talk to my doctor? Who do I call for an interpreter?

Call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) to let us know if you need an interpreter at least 24 hours before your appointment. This service is available for visits with your doctor at no cost to you.

How far in advance do I need to call?

Please let us know at least 24 hours before your appointment if you need an interpreter.

How can I get a face-to-face interpreter in the provider's office?

Call Member Services if you need an interpreter when you talk to your provider at his or her office.

What if I need OB/GYN care?

ATTENTION FEMALE MEMBERS:

Amerigroup allows you to pick any OB/GYN, whether that doctor is in the same network as your primary care provider or not. The OB/GYN you pick must be in the Amerigroup plan.

You have the right to pick an OB/GYN without a referral from your primary care provider. An OB/GYN can give you:

- One well-woman checkup each year.
- Care related to pregnancy.
- Care for any female medical condition.
- Referral to special doctor within the network.

How do I choose an OB/GYN?

You do not have to pick an OB/GYN. However, if you are pregnant, you should pick one to take care of you. You can pick any OB/GYN listed in the Amerigroup provider directory. If you need help choosing one, call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711). If you have Medicare, you will pick an OB/GYN that is in your Medicare plan's network.

If I do not choose an OB/GYN, do I have direct access?

If you don't want to go to an OB/GYN, your primary care provider may be able to treat you for female health-care needs. Ask your primary care provider if he or she can give you OB/GYN care. If not, you will need to see an OB/GYN. You will find a list of OB/GYNs in the Amerigroup provider directory. You can also search for one on our website at myamerigroup.com/TX under the **Find a Doctor** tab.

Will I need a referral?

You will not need a referral. You can see only one OB/GYN in a month, but you can visit the same one more than once during that month, if needed.

How soon can I be seen after contacting my OB/GYN for an appointment?

Your OB/GYN should see you within two weeks. We can help you find an OB/GYN in our plan, if needed.

Can I stay with my OB/GYN if he or she is not with Amerigroup?

In some cases, you may be able to keep seeing an OB/GYN who isn't in our plan. Please call Member Services to learn more.

What if I am pregnant? Who do I need to call?

If you think you're pregnant, call your primary care provider or OB/GYN right away. You don't need a referral from your primary care provider.

How do I report suspected abuse, neglect, or exploitation?

You have the right to respect and dignity, including freedom from abuse, neglect, and exploitation.

What are abuse, neglect, and exploitation?

- **Abuse** is mental, emotional, physical, or sexual injury, or failure to prevent such injury.
- **Neglect** results in starvation, dehydration, overmedicating or under-medicating, unsanitary living conditions, etc. Neglect also includes lack of heat, running water, electricity, medical care, and personal hygiene.
- **Exploitation** is misusing the resources of another person for personal or monetary gain. This includes taking Social Security or SSI (Supplemental Security Income) checks, abusing a joint checking account, and taking property and other resources.

Reporting abuse, neglect, and exploitation

The law requires that you report suspected abuse, neglect, or exploitation, including unapproved use of restraints or isolation that is committed by a provider.

Call 911 for life-threatening or emergency situations.

Report by phone (nonemergency) — 24 hours a day, seven days a week, toll-free

Report to the Department of Health and Human Services Commission (HHSC) by calling

800-458-9858 if the person being abused, neglected, or exploited lives in or receives services from a:

- Nursing facility.
- Assisted living facility.
- Adult day care center.
- Licensed adult foster care provider, or
- Home and Community Support Services Agency (HCSSA) or Home Health Agency.

Suspected abuse, neglect, or exploitation by a HCSSA must also be reported to the Department of Family and Protective Services (DFPS).

Report all other suspected abuse, neglect, or exploitation to DFPS by calling 800-252-5400.

Report electronically (nonemergency)

Go to txabusehotline.org. This is a secure website. You will need to create a password-protected account and profile.

Helpful information for filing a report

When reporting abuse, neglect, or exploitation, it is helpful to have the names, ages, addresses, and phone numbers of everyone involved.

What if I am too sick to make a decision about my medical care?

You can have someone make decisions on your behalf if you're too sick to make decisions for yourself. Please call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) if you would like more information about the forms you need.

What are advance directives?

Emancipated minors and members ages 18 and older have rights under advance directive laws. An advance directive talks about making a living will. A living will says you may not want medical care if you have a serious illness or injury and may not get better. To make sure you get the kind of care you want if you're too sick to decide for yourself, you can sign a living will. This is a type of advance directive. It is a paper that tells your doctor and your family what kinds of care you don't want if you're seriously ill or injured.

How do I get an advance directive?

You can get an advance directive form from your doctor or by calling Member Services. Amerigroup associates cannot offer legal advice or serve as a witness. According to Texas law, you must either have two witnesses or have your form notarized. After you fill out the form, take it or mail it to your doctor. Your doctor will then know what kind of care you want to get.

You can change your mind any time after you have signed an advance directive. Call your doctor to remove the advance directive from your medical record. You can also make changes in the advance directive by filling out and signing a new one.

You can sign a paper called a durable power of attorney, too. This paper will let you name a person to make decisions for you when you cannot make them yourself. Ask your doctor about these forms.

What happens if I lose my Medicaid coverage?

If you lose Medicaid coverage but get it back again within 6 months, you will get your Medicaid services from the same health plan you had before losing your Medicaid coverage. You will also have the same primary care provider you had before.

What if I get a bill from my nursing facility? Who do I call?

If you do get a bill, write a letter to a member advocate in your service area and include the bill. For a list of Amerigroup locations by service area, look at the beginning of this book. Keep a copy of the bill for your records. Your letter needs to include the information listed in the next section: **What information will they need?**

You can also call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) for help.

What information will they need?

In the letter to a member advocate about a bill from your nursing facility, include:

• Your name.

- Your phone number.
- Your Amerigroup ID number.
- The bill you received.

If you can't send the bill, include in the letter:

- The name of the nursing facility.
- The dates of service.
- The nursing facility's phone number.
- The amount charged.
- The account number, if known.

What is applied income? What are my responsibilities?

Applied Income is the member's personal income that the member must provide to the nursing facility as part of their cost-sharing obligation as a Medicaid beneficiary.

Any time Medicaid is billed by the nursing facility, the member must give their applied income to the facility. The amount is determined by the total amount of monthly income divided by the number of days the member resides in the facility each month. The member is allowed to keep \$60 for themselves for personal needs.

What do I have to do if I move?

As soon as you have your new address, give it to the local HHSC benefits office and the Amerigroup Member Services department at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711). Before you get Medicaid services in your new area, you must call Amerigroup, unless you need emergency services. You will continue to get care through Amerigroup until HHSC changes your address.

Can my Medicare provider bill me for services or supplies if I am in both Medicare and Medicaid?

You cannot be billed for Medicare "cost-sharing," which includes deductibles, coinsurance, and copayments that are covered by Medicaid.

What if I have other health insurance in addition to Medicaid?

Medicaid and Private Insurance

You are required to tell Medicaid staff about any private health insurance you have. You should call the Medicaid Third Party Resources hotline and update your Medicaid case file if:

- Your private health insurance is canceled.
- You get new insurance coverage.
- You have general questions about third party insurance.

You can call the hotline toll-free at 800-846-7307.

If you have other insurance, you may still qualify for Medicaid. When you tell Medicaid staff about your other health insurance, you help make sure Medicaid only pays for what your other health insurance does not cover.

IMPORTANT: Medicaid providers cannot turn you down for services because you have private health insurance as well as Medicaid. If providers accept you as a Medicaid patient, they must also file with your private health insurance company.

What are my rights and responsibilities?

MEMBER RIGHTS:

- 1. You have the right to respect, dignity, privacy, confidentiality, and nondiscrimination. That includes the right to:
 - a. Be treated fairly and with respect.
 - b. Know that your medical records and discussions with your providers will be kept private and confidential.
- 2. You have the right to a reasonable opportunity to choose a health care plan and primary care provider. This is the doctor or health-care provider you will see most of the time and who will coordinate your care. You have the right to change to another plan or provider in a reasonably easy manner. That includes the right to:
 - a. Be told how to choose and change your health plan and your primary care provider.
 - b. Choose any health plan you want that is available in your area and choose your primary care provider from that plan.
 - c. Change your primary care provider.
 - d. Change your health plan without penalty.
 - e. Be told how to change your health plan or your primary care provider.
- 3. You have the right to ask questions and get answers about anything you do not understand. That includes the right to:
 - a. Have your provider explain your health-care needs to you and talk to you about the different ways your health-care problems can be treated.
 - b. Be told why care or services were denied and not given.
- 4. You have the right to agree to or refuse treatment and actively participate in treatment decisions. That includes the right to:
 - a. Work as part of a team with your provider in deciding what health care is best for you.
 - b. Say yes or no to the care recommended by your provider.
- 5. You have the right to use each complaint and appeal process available through the managed care organization and through Medicaid and get a timely response to complaints, appeals, external medical reviews, and state fair hearings. That includes the right to:
 - a. Make a complaint to your health plan or to the state Medicaid program about your health care, your provider, or your health plan.
 - b. Get a timely answer to your complaint.
 - c. Use the plan's appeal process and be told how to use it.
 - d. Ask for an external medical review and state fair hearing from the state Medicaid program and get information about how that process works.
 - e. Ask for a state fair hearing without an external medical review from the state Medicaid program and receive information about how that process works.
- 6. You have the right to timely access to care that does not have any communication or physical access barriers. That includes the right to:
 - a. Have telephone access to a medical professional 24 hours a day, seven days a week to get any

emergency or urgent care you need.

- b. Get medical care in a timely manner.
- c. Be able to get in and out of a health-care provider's office; this includes barrier-free access for people with disabilities or other conditions that limit mobility, in accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act.
- d. Have interpreters, if needed, during appointments with your providers and when talking to your health plan; interpreters include people who can speak in your native language, help someone with a disability, or help you understand the information.
- e. Be given information you can understand about your health plan rules, including the health-care services you can get and how to get them.
- 7. You have the right to not be restrained or secluded when it is for someone else's convenience, or is meant to force you to do something you do not want to do, or is to punish you.
- 8. You have a right to know that doctors, hospitals, and others who care for you can advise you about your health status, medical care, and treatment. Your health plan cannot prevent them from giving you this information, even if the care or treatment is not a covered service.
- 9. You have a right to know that you are not responsible for paying for covered services. Doctors, hospitals, and others cannot require you to pay copayments or any other amounts for covered services.
- 10. You have a right to make recommendations to your health plan's member rights and responsibilities.

MEMBER RESPONSIBILITIES:

- 1. You must learn and understand each right you have under the Medicaid program. That includes the responsibility to:
 - a. Learn and understand your rights under the Medicaid program.
 - b. Ask questions if you do not understand your rights.
 - c. Learn what choices of health plans are available in your area.
- 2. You must abide by the health plan's and Medicaid's policies and procedures. That includes the responsibility to:
 - a. Learn and follow your health plan's rules and Medicaid rules.
 - b. Choose your health plan and a primary care provider quickly.
 - c. Make any changes in your health plan and primary care provider in the ways established by Medicaid and by the health plan.
 - d. Keep your scheduled appointments.
 - e. Cancel appointments in advance when you cannot keep them.
 - f. Always contact your primary care provider first for your non-emergency medical needs.
 - g. Understand when you should and should not go to the emergency room.
- 3. You must share information about your health with your primary care provider and learn about service and treatment options. That includes the responsibility to:
 - a. Tell your primary care provider about your health.
 - b. Talk to your providers about your health-care needs and ask questions about the different ways your health-care problems can be treated.
 - c. Help your providers get your medical records.
- 4. You must be involved in decisions relating to service and treatment options, make personal choices, and take action to keep yourself healthy. That includes the responsibility to:
 - a. Work as a team with your provider in deciding what health care is best for you.
 - b. Understand how the things you do can affect your health.

- c. Do the best you can to stay healthy.
- d. Treat providers and staff with respect.
- e. Talk to your provider about all of your medications.

If you think you have been treated unfairly or discriminated against, call the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) toll-free at 800-368-1019. You also can view information concerning the HHS Office of Civil Rights online at hhs.gov/ocr.

HOW WE MAKE DECISIONS ABOUT YOUR CARE

Sometimes, we need to make decisions about how we cover care and services. This is called Utilization Management (UM). All UM decisions are based on your medical needs and current benefits.

We don't encourage doctors to underuse services. And we don't create barriers to getting health care. Providers and others involved in UM decisions don't get rewarded for limiting or denying care. When we hire, promote, or fire providers or staff, it isn't based on their likelihood to deny benefits. Doctors in our plan use clinical practice guidelines, medical policies, and the benefits of your plan to determine necessary treatments and services.

When you or your doctor asks for certain care that needs a preapproval, our Utilization Review team decides if the service is medically necessary and one of your benefits. If you disagree with our decision, you or your doctor can ask for an appeal.

To speak with someone on our UM team, call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) Monday through Friday from 7 a.m. to 6 p.m. Central time.

QUALITY MANAGEMENT

What does quality management do for you?

The Amerigroup Quality Management program is here to make sure you're being cared for. We look at services you've received to see if you're getting the best preventive health care. If you have a chronic disease, we check if you're getting help managing your condition.

The Quality Management department develops programs to help you learn more about your health care. We have member outreach teams to help you schedule appointments and arrange transportation if you need it. These services are free because we want to help you get and stay healthy.

We work with our plan providers to teach them and help them care for you. You may get mailings from us about taking preventive health steps or managing an illness. We want you to help us improve by telling us what we can do better. To learn more about our Quality Management program, please call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711).

What are clinical practice guidelines?

Amerigroup uses national clinical practice guidelines for your care. Clinical practice guidelines are nationally recognized, scientific, proven standards of care. These guidelines are recommendations for physicians and other health-care providers to diagnose and manage your specific condition. If you would like a copy of these guidelines, please call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711).

COMPLAINTS PROCESS

What should I do if I have a complaint about my health care, my provider, my service coordinator, or my health plan? Who do I call?

We want to help. If you have a complaint, please call us toll-free at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) to tell us about your problem. An Amerigroup Member Services representative or a member advocate can help you file a complaint. Just call 800-600-4441 (TTY 711). Most of the time, we can help you right away or at the most within a few days.

Can someone from Amerigroup help me file a complaint?

Yes, a member advocate or Member Services representative can help you file a complaint with us or the appropriate state program. If you have Medicare, a member advocate can also help you file a complaint with your Medicare plan or directly with Medicare. Please call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711).

How long will it take to process my complaint?

Amerigroup will answer your complaint within 30 days from the date we get it.

What are the requirements and time frames for filing a complaint?

You can tell us about your complaint by calling us or writing us. We will send you a letter within 5 business days of getting your complaint. This means we have your complaint and have started to look at it. We will include a complaint form with our letter if your complaint was made by phone. You must fill out this form and mail it back to us. If you need help filling out the complaint form, please call Member Services.

We will send you a letter within 30 days of when we get your complaint. This letter will tell you what we have done to address your complaint.

If your complaint is about an ongoing emergency or hospital stay, it will be resolved as quickly as needed for the urgency of your case and no later than one business day from when we receive your complaint.

How do I file a complaint with the Health and Human Services Commission once I have gone through the Amerigroup complaint process?

Once you have gone through the Amerigroup complaint process, you can complain to the Health and Human Services Commission (HHSC) by calling toll-free 866-566-8989. If you would like to make your complaint in writing, please send it to the following address:

Texas Health and Human Services Commission Ombudsman Managed Care Assistance Team PO Box 13247 Austin, TX 78711-3247

If you can get on the Internet, you can send your complaint at: **hhs.texas.gov/managed-care-help**.

If you file a complaint, Amerigroup will not hold it against you. We will still be here to help you get quality health care.

Do I have the right to meet with a complaint appeal panel?

Yes. If you're not happy with the answer to your complaint, you can ask us to look at it again. You must ask for a complaint appeal panel in writing. Write to us at:

Member Advocates Amerigroup 2505 N. Highway 360, Suite 300 Grand Prairie, TX 75050

If you can get on the Internet, you can submit your complaint at: hhs.texas.gov/managed-care-help.

When we get your request, we'll send you a letter within five business days. This means that we have your request and started to work on it. You can also call us at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) to ask for a complaint appeal panel request form. You must complete the form and return it to us.

We'll have a meeting with Amerigroup staff, providers in the health plan, and other Amerigroup members to look at your complaint. We'll try to find a day and time for the meeting so you can be there. You can bring someone to the meeting if you want to. You don't have to come to the meeting. We'll send you a letter at least five business days before the complaint appeal panel meeting. The letter will have the date, time, and place of the meeting. We'll send you all of the information the panel will look at during the meeting.

We'll send you a letter within 30 days of getting your written request. The letter will tell you the complaint appeal panel's final decision. This letter will also give you the information the panel used to make its decision.

APPEALS PROCESS

What can I do if my doctor asks for a service or medicine for me that is covered, but Amerigroup denies or limits it?

There may be times when we say we will not pay for all or part of the care that has been recommended. You have the right to ask for an appeal. An appeal is when you or your designated representative asks Amerigroup to look again at the care your doctor asked for and we said we will not pay for. A designated representative can be a family member, your provider, an attorney, a friend, or any person you choose.

If you ask someone (a designated representative) to file an appeal for you, you must also send a letter to Amerigroup to let us know you have chosen a person to represent you. Amerigroup must have this written letter to be able to consider this person as your representative. We do this for your privacy and security.

You can appeal our decision orally or in writing:

• You can call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711).

 You can send us a letter or the request form included with our decision letter to: Amerigroup Appeals
 PO Box 62429
 Virginia Beach, VA 23466-2429

How will I find out if services are denied?

If we deny services, we will send you a letter at the time the denial is made.

What are the time frames for the appeals process?

You or a designated representative can file an appeal. You must do this within 60 days of the date of the first letter from Amerigroup saying we won't pay for or cover all or part of the recommended care.

When we receive your letter or call, we will send you a letter within five business days. This letter will let you know we received your appeal. We will also let you know if we need any other information to process your appeal. Amerigroup will contact your doctor if we need medical information about the service.

A doctor who has not seen the case before will look at your appeal. They will decide how we should handle the appeal.

We will send you a letter with the answer to your appeal. We will do this within 30 calendar days from when we receive your appeal unless we need more information from you or the person you asked to file the appeal for you. If we need more information, we may extend the appeals process for 14 days if the delay is in your best interest. If we extend the appeals process, we will let you know in writing the reason for the delay. You may also ask us to extend the process if you know more information we should consider.

How can I continue receiving services that were already approved?

You have 60 days to file an appeal from the date of our decision letter. To continue receiving services that have already been approved by Amerigroup but which may be part of the reason for your appeal, you must file a request for continuation of benefits on or before the later of:

- Ten days after we mail the notice to you to let you know we will not pay for or cover all or part of the care.
- The date the notice says the service will end.

If the decision on your appeal upholds our first decision, you may be asked to pay for the services you received during the appeals process.

If the decision on your appeal reverses our first decision, Amerigroup will pay for the services you received while your appeal was pending.

Can someone from Amerigroup help me file an appeal?

Yes, a member advocate or Member Services representative can help you file an appeal with Amerigroup or with the appropriate state program. Please call Member Services toll-free at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711).

Can I request an external medical review and state fair hearing?

Yes, you can ask for an external medical review and state fair hearing after the Amerigroup internal appeal process is complete. Your request must be made within 120 days of the date of our appeal decision letter. An external medical review cannot be requested without a state fair hearing but you can withdraw your request for the hearing after you get the external medical review decision.

Can I request a state fair hearing only?

Yes. You can ask for a state fair hearing without an external medical review after the Amerigroup internal appeal process is complete. Your request must be made within 120 days of the date of our appeal decision letter.

See the next sections, **Emergency Appeals, State Fair Hearings**, and **External Medical Review Information** to learn more.

EMERGENCY APPEALS

What is an emergency appeal?

An emergency appeal is when the health plan has to make a decision quickly based on the condition of your health and taking the time for a standard appeal could jeopardize your life or health.

How do I ask for an emergency appeal? Does my request have to be in writing?

You or the person you ask to file an appeal for you (a designated representative) can request an emergency appeal. You can request an emergency appeal orally or in writing, either:

- Call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711).
- Send a letter or the request form included with our decision letter to: Amerigroup Appeals
 PO Box 62429
 Virginia Beach, VA 23466-2429

What are the time frames for an emergency appeal?

After we receive your letter or call and agree your request for an appeal should be expedited, we will send you a letter with the answer to your appeal. We will do this within 72 hours from receipt of your appeal request.

If your appeal is about an ongoing emergency or hospital stay, we will call you with an answer within one business day or 72 hours, whichever is shorter. We will also send you a letter with the answer to your appeal within 72 hours.

What happens if Amerigroup denies the request for an emergency appeal?

If we do not agree your request for an appeal should be expedited, we will call you right away. We will send you a letter within two calendar days to let you know how the decision was made and your appeal will be reviewed through the standard review process.

Who can help me file an emergency appeal?

A member advocate or Member Services representative can help you file an emergency appeal. Please call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711).

STATE FAIR HEARINGS

Can I ask for a state fair hearing?

If you, as a member of the health plan, disagree with the health plan's internal appeal decision, you have the right to ask for a state fair hearing. You may name someone to represent you by contacting the health plan in writing to name the person you want to represent you. A provider may be your representative. If you want to challenge a decision made by your health plan, you or your representative must ask for the state fair hearing within 120 days of the date on the health plan's internal appeal decision letter with the decision being challenged. If you do not ask for the state fair hearing, you or your representative should either send a letter to Amerigroup at:

State Fair Hearing/EMR Coordinator Amerigroup P.O. Box 62429 Virginia Beach, VA 23466-2429

Or you can call Member Services at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711).

You have the right to keep getting any service the health plan denied or reduced, at least until the final state fair hearing decision is made if you ask for a state fair hearing by 10 days following the date the health plan mailed the appeal decision letter. If you do not request a state fair hearing by this date, the service the health plan denied will be stopped.

If you ask for a state fair hearing, you will get a packet of information letting you know the date, time, and location of the hearing. Most state fair hearings are held by telephone. At that time, you or your representative can tell why you need the service the health plan denied.

Health and Human Services Commission (HHSC) will give you a final decision within 90 days from the date you asked for the state fair hearing.

Can I ask for an emergency state fair hearing?

If you believe that waiting for a state fair hearing will seriously jeopardize your life or health, or your ability to attain, maintain, or regain maximum function, you or your representative may ask for an emergency state fair hearing by writing or calling Amerigroup. To qualify for an emergency state fair hearing through HHSC, you must first complete the Amerigroup internal appeals process.

EXTERNAL MEDICAL REVIEW INFORMATION

Can I ask for an external medical review?

If you, as a member of the health plan, disagree with the health plan's internal appeal decision, you have the right to ask for an external medical review with state fair hearing. An external medical review is an optional, extra step you can take to get your case reviewed for free before your state fair hearing. You, your parent, your authorized representative, or your legally authorized representative (LAR) must ask for the external medical review within 120 days of the date the health plan mails the letter with the internal appeal decision. If you do not ask for the external medical review within 120 days, you may lose your right to an external medical review. To ask for an external medical review, you, your parent, your representative, or your legally authorized representative may either:

- Fill out the *State fair hearing and external medical review request form* that came with the member notice of MCO internal appeal decision letter and mail or fax it to Amerigroup by using the address or fax number at the top of the form; or
- Call Amerigroup at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711).

You have the right to keep getting any service the health plan denied or reduced, at least until the external medical review and final state fair hearing decision is made if you ask for an external medical review with state fair hearing within 10 days following the date the health plan mailed the internal appeal decision letter. If you do not request continued benefits by this date, the service the health plan denied will be stopped.

You may withdraw your request for an external medical review before it is assigned to an Independent Review Organization or while the Independent Review Organization is reviewing your external medical review request. An external medical review cannot be withdrawn if an Independent Review Organization has already completed the review and made a decision.

Once the external medical review decision is received, you have the right to withdraw the state fair hearing request. If you continue with the state fair hearing, you can also request the Independent Review Organization be present at the state fair hearing. You can make both of these requests by contacting Amerigroup at 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) or the HHSC Intake Team at EMR_Intake_Team@hhsc.state.tx.us.

If the member continues with a state fair hearing and the state fair hearing decision is different from the Independent Review Organization decision, it is the state fair hearing decision that is final. The state fair hearing decision can only uphold or increase member benefits from the Independent Review Organization decision.

Can I ask for an emergency external medical review?

If you believe that waiting for a standard external medical review will seriously jeopardize your life or health, or your ability to attain, maintain, or regain maximum function, you, your parent, or your legally authorized representative may ask for an emergency external medical review and emergency state fair hearing by writing or calling Amerigroup. To qualify for an emergency external medical review and emergency state fair hearing review through HHSC, the member must first complete the Amerigroup internal appeals process.

HOW DO I REPORT SUSPECTED ABUSE, NEGLECT, OR EXPLOITATION?

You have the right to respect and dignity, including freedom from Abuse, Neglect, and Exploitation.

What are Abuse, Neglect, and Exploitation?

- Abuse is mental, emotional, physical, or sexual injury, or failure to prevent such injury.
- **Neglect** results in starvation, dehydration, overmedicating or under medicating, unsanitary living conditions, etc. Neglect also includes lack of heat, running water, electricity, medical care, and personal hygiene.
- **Exploitation** is misusing the resources of another person for personal or monetary gain. This includes taking Social Security or SSI (Supplemental Security Income) checks, abusing a joint checking account, and taking property and other resources.

Reporting Abuse, Neglect, and Exploitation

The law requires that you report suspected Abuse, Neglect, or Exploitation, including unapproved use of restraints or isolation that is committed by a provider.

Call 911 for life-threatening or emergency situations.

Report by phone (nonemergency) – 24 hours a day, seven days a week, toll-free

Report to the Health and Human Services Commission (HHSC) by calling 800-458-9858 if the person being abused, neglected, or exploited lives in or receives services from a:

- Nursing facility
- Assisted living facility
- Adult day care center
- Licensed adult foster care provider, or
- Home and Community Support Services Agency (HCSSA) or Home Health Agency

Suspected Abuse, Neglect, or Exploitation by a HCSSA must also be reported to the Department of Family and Protective Services (DFPS).

Report all other suspected Abuse, Neglect, or Exploitation to DFPS by calling 800-252-5400.

Report electronically (nonemergency)

Go to https://txabusehotline.org. This is a secure website. You will need to create a password-protected account and profile.

Helpful information for filing a report

When reporting Abuse, Neglect, or Exploitation, it is helpful to have the names, ages, addresses, and phone numbers of everyone involved.

FRAUD AND ABUSE INFORMATION

Do you want to report waste, abuse, or fraud?

Let us know if you think a doctor, dentist, pharmacist at a drugstore, other health-care provider, or a person getting benefits is doing something wrong. Doing something wrong could be waste, abuse, or fraud, which is against the law. For example, tell us if you think someone is:

• Getting paid for services that weren't given or necessary.

- Not telling the truth about a medical condition to get medical treatment.
- Letting someone else use their Medicaid ID.
- Using someone else's Medicaid ID.
- Not telling the truth about the amount of money or resources he or she has to get benefits.

To report waste, abuse, or fraud, choose one of the following:

- Call the OIG Hotline at 800-436-6184.
- Visit https://oig.hhs.texas.gov and click on "Report Fraud" to complete the online form.
- You can report directly to your health plan:

Compliance Officer Amerigroup 2505 N. Highway 360, Suite 300 Grand Prairie, TX 75050 800-839-6275

Other reporting options include:

- Special Investigations Fraud Hotline: 866-847-8247 (reporting can be anonymous)
- Amerigroup Member Services: 800-600-4441

To report waste, abuse, or fraud, gather as much information as possible.

- When reporting about a provider (a doctor, dentist, counselor, etc.) include:
 - Name, address, and phone number of provider
 - Name and address of the facility (hospital, nursing home, home health agency, etc.)
 - Medicaid number of the provider and facility, if you have it
 - Type of provider (doctor, dentist, therapist, pharmacist, etc.)
 - Names and phone numbers of other witnesses who can help in the investigation
 - Dates of events
 - Summary of what happened
- When reporting someone who gets benefits, include:
 - The person's name
 - The person's date of birth, Social Security number, or case number if you have it
 - The city where the person lives
 - Specific details about the waste, abuse, or fraud

INFORMATION THAT MUST BE AVAILABLE ON AN ANNUAL BASIS

As a member of Amerigroup, you can ask for and get the following information each year:

- Information about network providers at a minimum primary care doctors, specialists, and hospitals in our service area; this information will include names, addresses, telephone numbers, and languages spoken (other than English) for each network provider, plus identification of providers that are not accepting new patients; and, when applicable, professional qualifications, specialty, medical school attended, residency completion, and board certification status
- Any limits on your freedom of choice among network providers
- Your rights and responsibilities
- Information on complaint, appeal, external medical review, and state fair hearing procedures
- Information about benefits available under the Medicaid program, including amount, duration, and

scope of benefits; this is designed to make sure you understand the benefits to which you are entitled

- How you get benefits, including authorization requirements
- How you get benefits, including family planning services, from out-of-network providers and limits to those benefits
- How you get emergency coverage and limits to those kinds of benefits, including:
 - What makes up emergency medical conditions, emergency services, and post-stabilization services.
 - The fact that you do not need prior authorization from your primary care provider for emergency care services.
 - In case of emergency, follow instructions provided by your nursing facility. Facility staff will contact appropriate authorities to coordinate emergency transport and/or services.
 - The addresses of any places where providers and hospitals furnish emergency services covered by Medicaid.
 - A statement saying you have a right to use any hospital or other settings for emergency care.
 - Post-stabilization rules.
- Policy on referrals for specialty care and for other benefits you cannot get through your primary care provider
- The Amerigroup practice guidelines

Member Guide to Managed Care Terms

Term	Definition		
Appeal	A request for your managed care organization to review a denial		
	or a grievance again.		
Complaint	A grievance that you communicate to your health insurer or plan.		
Copayment	A fixed amount (for example, \$15) you pay for a covered		
	health-care service, usually when you receive the service. The		
	amount can vary by the type of covered health-care service.		
Durable Medical Equipment (DME)	Equipment ordered by a health-care provider for everyday or		
	extended use. Coverage for DME may include but is not limited		
	to: oxygen equipment, wheelchairs, crutches, or diabetic supplies.		
Emergency Medical	An illness, injury, symptom, or condition so serious that a		
Condition	reasonable person would seek care right away to avoid harm.		
Emergency Medical	Ground or air ambulance services for an emergency medical		
Transportation	condition.		
Emergency Room Care	Emergency services you get in an emergency room.		
Emergency Services	Evaluation of an emergency medical condition and treatment to		
	keep the condition from getting worse.		
Excluded Services	Health-care services that your health insurance or plan doesn't		
Excluded Services	pay for or cover.		
Grievance	A complaint to your health insurer or plan.		
Habilitation Services and	Health-care services such as physical or occupational therapy that		
Devices	help a person keep, learn, or improve skills and functioning for		
	daily living.		
Health Insurance	A contract that requires your health insurer to pay your covered		
	health-care costs in exchange for a premium.		
Home Health Care	Health-care services a person receives in a home.		
Hospice Services	Services to provide comfort and support for persons in the last		
	stages of a terminal illness and their families.		
Hospitalization	Care in a hospital that requires admission as an inpatient and		
	usually requires an overnight stay.		
Hospital Outpatient Care	Care in a hospital that usually doesn't require an overnight stay.		
Medically Necessary	Health-care services or supplies needed to prevent, diagnose, or		
	treat an illness, injury, condition, disease, or its symptoms and		
	that meet accepted standards of medicine.		
Network	The facilities, providers, and suppliers your health insurer or plan		
	has contracted with to provide health-care services.		
Non-participating Provider	A provider who doesn't have a contract with your health insurer		
	or plan to provide covered services to you. It may be more		
	difficult to obtain authorization from your health insurer or plan		
	to obtain services from a non-participating provider instead of a		
	participating provider. In limited cases, such as when there are no		
	other providers, your health insurer can contract to pay a non-		
	participating provider.		

Darticipating Dravidar	A provider who has a contract with your health insurer or plan to	
Participating Provider	provide covered services to you.	
Physician Services	Health-care services a licensed medical physician (M.D Medical Doctor or D.O Doctor of Osteopathic Medicine) provides or coordinates.	
Plan	A benefit, like Medicaid, which provides and pays for your health-care services.	
Pre-authorization	A decision by your health insurer or plan that a health-care service, treatment plan, prescription drug, or durable medical equipment that you or your provider has requested, is medically necessary. This decision or approval, sometimes called prior authorization, prior approval, or pre-certification, must be obtained prior to receiving the requested service. Pre-authorization isn't a promise your health insurance or plan will cover the cost.	
Premium	The amount that must be paid for your health insurance or plan.	
Prescription Drug Coverage	Health insurance or plan that helps pay for prescription drugs and medications.	
Prescription Drugs	Drugs and medications that by law require a prescription.	
Primary Care Physician	A physician (M.D Medical Doctor or D.O Doctor of Osteopathic Medicine) who directly provides or coordinates a range of health-care services for a patient.	
Primary Care Provider	A physician (M.D Medical Doctor or D.O Doctor of Osteopathic Medicine), nurse practitioner, clinical nurse specialist, or physician assistant, as allowed under state law, who provides, coordinates, or helps a patient access a range of health- care services.	
Provider	A physician (M.D Medical Doctor or D.O Doctor of Osteopathic Medicine), health-care professional, or health-care facility licensed, certified, or accredited as required by state law.	
Rehabilitation Services and Devices	Health-care services such as physical or occupational therapy that help a person keep, get back, or improve skills and functioning for daily living that have been lost or impaired because a person was sick, hurt, or disabled.	
Skilled Nursing Care	Services from licensed nurses in your own home or in a nursing home.	
Specialist	A physician specialist focuses on a specific area of medicine or a group of patients to diagnose, manage, prevent, or treat certain types of symptoms and conditions.	
Urgent Care	Care for an illness, injury, or condition serious enough that a reasonable person would seek care right away, but not so severe as to require emergency room care.	



HIPAA NOTICE OF PRIVACY PRACTICES

The original effective date of this notice was April 14, 2003. The most recent revision date is shown in the footer of this notice.

Please read this notice carefully. This tells you:

- Who can see your protected health information (PHI).
- When we have to ask for your OK before we share your PHI.
- When we can share your PHI without your OK.
- What rights you have to see and change your PHI.

Information about your health and money is private. The law says we must keep this kind of information, called PHI, safe for our members. That means if you are a member right now or if you used to be, your information is safe.

We get information about you from state agencies for Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program after you become eligible and sign up for our health plan. We also get it from your doctors, clinics, labs, and hospitals so we can OK and pay for your health care.

Federal law says we must tell you what the law says we have to do to protect PHI that is told to us, in writing or saved on a computer. We also have to tell you how we keep it safe. To protect PHI:

- On paper (called physical), we:
 - Lock our offices and files.
 - Destroy paper with health information so others cannot get it.
 - Saved on a computer (called technical), we:
 - Use passwords so only the right people can get in.
 - Use special programs to watch our systems.
 - Used or shared by people who work for us, doctors, or the state, we:
 - Make rules for keeping information safe (called policies and procedures).
 - Teach people who work for us to follow the rules.

When it is OK for us to use and share your PHI

We can share your PHI with your family or a person you choose who helps with or pays for your health care if you tell us it is OK. Sometimes, we can use and share it **without** your OK:

- For your medical care
- To help doctors, hospitals, and others get you the care you need
- For payment, health-care operations, and treatment
- To share information with the doctors, clinics, and others who bill us for your care

- When we say we will pay for health care or services before you get them (called prior authorization or preapproval)
- To find ways to make our programs better, as well as support you and help you get available benefits and services. We may get your PHI from public sources, and we may give your PHI to health information exchanges for payment, health-care operations, and treatment. If you do not want this, please visit amerigroup.com/amerigroup/privacypolicy.html for more information.
- For health-care business reasons
- To help with audits, fraud and abuse prevention programs, planning, and everyday work
- To find ways to make our programs better
- For public health reasons
- To help public health officials keep people from getting sick or hurt
- With others who help with or pay for your care
- With your family or a person you choose who helps with or pays for your health care, if you tell us it is OK
- With someone who helps with or pays for your health care, if you cannot speak for yourself and it is best for you

We must get your OK in writing before we use or share your PHI for all but your care, payment, everyday business, research, or other things listed below. We have to get your written OK before we share psychotherapy notes from your doctor about you.

You may tell us in writing that you want to take back your written OK. We cannot take back what we used or shared when we had your OK. But we will stop using or sharing your PHI in the future.

Other ways we can — or the law says we have to — use your PHI:

- To help the police and other people who make sure others follow laws
- To report abuse and neglect
- To help the court when we are asked
- To answer legal documents
- To give information to health oversight agencies for things such as audits or exams
- To help coroners, medical examiners, or funeral directors find out your name and cause of death
- To help when you asked to give your body parts to science
- For research
- To keep you or others from getting sick or badly hurt
- To help people who work for the government with certain jobs
- To give information to worker's compensation if you get sick or hurt at work

Your rights

- You can ask to look at your PHI and get a copy of it. We will have 30 days to send it to you. If we need more time, we have to let you know. We do not have your whole medical record, though. If you want a copy of your whole medical record, ask your doctor or health clinic.
- You can ask us to change the medical record we have for you if you think something is wrong or missing. We will have 60 days to send it to you. If we need more time, we have to let you know.
- Sometimes, you can ask us not to share your PHI. But we do not have to agree to your request.
- You can ask us to send PHI to a different address than the one we have for you or in some other way. We can do this if sending it to the address we have for you may put you in danger.
- You can ask us to tell you all the times over the past six years we shared your PHI with someone else. This will not list the times we shared it because of health care, payment, everyday health-care business, or some other reasons we did not list here. We will have 60 days to send it to you. If we need more time, we have to let you know.
- You can ask for a paper copy of this notice at any time, even if you asked for this one by email.
- If you pay the whole bill for a service, you can ask your doctor not to share the information about that service with us.

What we have to do

- The law says we must keep your PHI private except as we said in this notice.
- We must tell you what the law says we have to do about privacy.
- We must do what we say we will do in this notice.
- We must send your PHI to some other address or in a way other than regular mail if you ask for reasons that make sense, such as if you are in danger.
- We must tell you if we have to share your PHI after you asked us not to.
- If state laws say we have to do more than what we said here, we will follow those laws.
- We have to let you know if we think your PHI has been breached.

Contacting you

We, along with our affiliates and vendors, may call or text you using an automatic telephone dialing system or an artificial voice. We only do this in line with the Telephone Consumer Protection Act (TCPA). The calls may be to let you know about treatment options or other health-related benefits and services. If you do not want to be reached by phone, just let the caller know, and we will not contact you in this way anymore. Or you may call 844-203-3796 (TTY 711) toll-free to add your phone number to our Do Not Call list.

What to do if you have questions

If you have questions about our privacy rules or want to use your rights, please call Member Services toll-free at:

- 844-756-4600 (TTY 711) Monday through Friday, 8 a.m. to 6 p.m. Central time for STAR Kids.
- 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) Monday through Friday, 7 a.m. to 6 p.m. Central time for all other members.

What to do if you have a complaint

We are here to help. If you feel your PHI has not been kept safe, you may call Member Services or contact the Department of Health and Human Services. Nothing bad will happen to you if you complain.

You may write to or call the Department of Health and Human Services:

Office for Civil Rights U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 1301 Young St., Suite 1169 Dallas, TX 75202 Phone: 800-368-1019 TDD: 800-537-7697 Fax: 214-767-0432

We reserve the right to change this Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) notice and the ways we keep your PHI safe. If that happens, we will tell you about the changes in a letter. We also will post them on the web at amerigroup.com/amerigroup/privacy-policy.html.

Race, ethnicity, and language

We get race, ethnicity, and language information about you from state agencies for Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program. We protect this information as described in this notice.

We use this information to:

- Make sure you get the care you need.
- Create programs to improve health outcomes.
- Create and send health education information.
- Let doctors know about your language needs.
- Provide interpretation and translation services.

We do **<u>not</u>** use this information to:

• Issue health insurance.

- Decide how much to charge for services.
- Determine benefits.
- Share with unapproved users.

Your personal information

We may ask for, use, and share personal information (PI) as we talked about in this notice. Your PI is not public and tells us who you are. It is often taken for insurance reasons.

- We may use your PI to make decisions about your:
- Health.
- Habits.
- Hobbies.
 - We may get PI about you from other people or groups such as:
- Doctors.
- Hospitals.
- Other insurance companies.
 - We may share PI with people or groups outside of our company without your OK in some cases.
 - We will let you know before we do anything where we have to give you a chance to say no.
 - We will tell you how to let us know if you do not want us to use or share your PI.
 - You have the right to see and change your PI.
 - We make sure your PI is kept safe.

This information is available for free in other languages. Please contact Member Services toll-free at:

- 844-756-4600 (TTY 711) Monday through Friday, 8 a.m. to 6 p.m. Central time for STAR Kids.
- 800-600-4441 (TTY 711) Monday through Friday, 7 a.m. to 6 p.m. Central time for all other members.

Revised March 2021

Amerigroup follows Federal civil rights laws. We don't discriminate against people because of their:

- Race
 National origin
 Disability
- Color
 Age
 Sex or gender identity

That means we won't exclude you or treat you differently because of these things.

Communicating with you is important

For people with disabilities or who speak a language other than English, we offer these services at no cost to you:

- Qualified sign language interpreters
- Written materials in large print, audio, electronic, and other formats
- Help from qualified interpreters in the language you speak
- Written materials in the language you speak

To get these services, call the Member Services number on your ID card. Or you can call our Member Advocates at 1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711). STAR Kids members, call 1-844-756-4600 (TTY 711).

Your rights

Do you feel you didn't get these services or we discriminated against you for reasons listed above? If so, you can file a grievance (complaint). File by mail, email, fax, or phone:

Member Advocates – Amerigroup	Phone: 1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)
823 Congress Ave., Suite 1100	STAR Kids members, call 1-844-756-4600
Austin, TX 78701	(TTY 711)
	Fax: 512-382-4965
	Email: dl-txmemberadvocates@anthem.com

Need help filing? Call our Member Advocates at the number above. You can also file a civil rights complaint with the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office for Civil Rights:

- On the Web: https://ocrportal.hhs.gov/ocr/portal/lobby.jsf
- By mail: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
 200 Independence Ave. SW
 Room 509F, HHH Building
 - Washington, DC 20201
- By phone: 1-800-368-1019 (TTY/TDD 1-800-537-7697)

For a complaint form, visit **www.hhs.gov/ocr/office/file/index.html**.

Do you need help with your health care, talking with us, or reading what we send you? We provide our materials in other languages and formats at no cost to you. Call us toll free at 1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711). STAR Kids members, call 1-844-756-4600 (TTY 711).

¿Necesita ayuda con su cuidado de la salud, para hablar con nosotros o leer lo que le enviamos? Proporcionamos nuestros materiales en otros idiomas y formatos sin costo alguno para usted. Llámenos a la línea gratuita al 1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711). Miembros de STAR Kids, deben llamar al 1-844-756-4600 (TTY 711).

Quý vị có cần chúng tôi giúp với việc chăm sóc sức khỏe của quý vị, trao đổi với chúng tôi, hoặc đọc những tài liệu chúng tôi gửi cho quý vị hay không? Chúng tôi cung cấp các tài liệu bằng các ngôn ngữ và định dạng khác, miễn phí cho quý vị. Hãy gọi cho chúng tôi theo số miễn phí 1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711). Các thành viên STAR Kids, hãy gọi số 1-844-756-4600 (TTY 711).

您需要醫療保健的幫助嗎?請向我們諮詢,或是閱讀我們寄給您的資料。我們以其他語言和 格式提供我們的資料,您無需支付任何費用。請撥打免費電話 1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711)。 STAR Kids 會員,請致電 1-844-756-4600 (TTY 711).

Kailangan ninyo ba ng tulong sa inyong pangangalagang pangkalusugan, sa pamamagitan ng pakikipag-usap sa amin, o pagbasa kung ano ang ipinapadala namin sa inyo? Nagbibigay kami ng aming mga materyal sa ibang mga wika at anyo na wala kayong gagastusin. Tawagan kami nang walang bayad sa 1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711). Sa mga miyembro ng STAR Kids, tumawag sa 1-844-756-4600 (TTY 711).

Benötigen Sie Hilfe bei Ihrer medizinischen Versorgung, der Kommunikation mit uns oder beim Lesen unserer Unterlagen? Unsere Materialien sind auf Anfrage auch in anderen Sprachen und Formaten kostenlos erhältlich. Rufen Sie uns gebührenfrei an unter 1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711). Mitglieder von STAR Kids rufen bitte unter 1-844-756-4600 (TTY 711) an.

Vous avez besoin d'aide pour vos soins médicaux, pour communiquer avec nous ou pour lire les documents que nous vous envoyons ? Nous fournissons nos publications dans d'autres langues et sous d'autres formats, et c'est gratuit. Appelez-nous sans frais au 1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711). Membres de STAR Kids, appelez le 1-844-756-4600 (TTY 711).

TX-MEM-0851-17

क्**या अपनी स्**वास्थ्**य देखभाल के बारे में, हमसे बात करने के** लिए या हमारे द्वारा भेजी गई सामग्री पढ़ने के लिए आपको सहायता चाहिए? हम आपको अपनी सामग्री अन्**य भाषाओं और फ़ॉर्मेट में बिना किसी** शुल्क के उपलब्**ध कराते हैं। हमें टोल फ्री नंबर 1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711) पर फ़ोन करें। STAR Kids के सदस्य, 1-844-756-4600 (TTY 711) पर कॉल करें।.**

کیا آپ کو اپنی ہیلتھ کیئر سے متعلق، ہم سے بات کرنے سے متعلق یا ہم جو آپ کو بھیجتے ہیں اسے پڑ ھنے سے متعلق مدد کی ضرورت ہے؟ ہم اپنا مواد دوسری زبانوں اور فارمیٹس میں آپ کو بلامعاوضہ فراہم کرتے ہیں۔ آپ ہمیں (TTY 711) 4440-600-1800 پر ٹول فری کال کرسکتے ہیں۔ STAR Kids ممبران(TTY 711) 4600-756-4640 پر کال کریں

의료 서비스, 당사와의 소통 또는 당사에서 보내는 자료 읽기와 관련해 도움이 필요하십니까? 무료로 자료를 다른 언어나 형식으로 제공해 드립니다. 무료 전화 1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711) 번으로 문의해 주십시오. STAR 어린이 회원은 1-844-756-4600 (TTY 711) 번으로 문의해 주십시오.

هل تحتاج إلى مساعدة بخصوص رعايتك الصحية أو التحدث إلينا أو قراءة ما نرسله إليك؟ نحن نقدم المواد الخاصة بنا بلغات وتتسيقات أخرى بدون تكلفة عليك. يُمكنك الاتصال على الرقم المجاني 4441-600-1800 (الهاتف النصي: 711). لأعضاء برنامج STAR Kids، يُمكنك الاتصال على الرقم 4600-756-1844 (الهاتف النصي: 711).

શું તમને તમારી સ્વાસ્થ્યસંભાળ વિશ્વે, અમારા સાથે વાત કરવા વિશે, અથવા અમે તમને જે મોકલીએ છીએ તે વાંચવામાં મદદની જરૂર છે? અમે તમને વિના મૂલ્ચે અમારું સાઢિત્ય અન્ય ભાષાઓ અને સ્વરૂપોમાં પૂરું પાડીશું. આ ટૉલ ફ્રી નંબર પર અમને કૉલ કરો 1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711). STAR Kids સદસ્યો, 1-844-756-4600 (TTY 711) પર કૉલ કરો.

آیا در رابطه با مراقبت بهداشتی درمانی خود، گفتگو با ما یا خواندن مطالب ارسالی به شما، به کمک نیاز دارید؟ ما مطالب خود را به سایر زبانها و قالبها، به صورت رایگان به شما ارائه میدهیم. با ما به شماره رایگان 1-844-756-4600 (TTY 711) تماس بگیرید. اعضای STAR Kids با شماره (TTY 711) 4600-600-4441 تماسبگیرند.

Вам нужна помощь с медицинским обслуживанием, консультацией или материалами, которые мы вам прислали? Мы можем бесплатно предоставить вам материалы на других языках и в других форматах. Позвоните в нам по бесплатному телефону 1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711). STAR Kids могут позвонить по тел 1-844-756-4600 (TTY 711).

TX-MEM-0851-17

Precisas de ajuda com a tua assistência à saúde, para falar connosco ou acerca do que enviamos para ti? Fornecemos os nossos materiais em outros idiomas e formatos sem custo algum. Liga-nos gratuitamente pelo número 1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711). Para associados STAR Kids, ligue para 1-844-756-4600 (TTY 711).

ヘルスケアに関してご質問やご相談はありませんか?当社からお送りした資料のことで お困りですか?資料は英語以外の言語や別のフォーマットでもご用意しています。いず れも無料です。ご希望の方はフリーダイヤル 1-800-600-4441 (TTY 711) までお電話くださ い。STAR キッズ会員の方は、1-844-756-4600 (TTY 711) までお電話ください。

